
 

 

  

NOTICE OF MEETING AND AGENDA 
 

Pursuant to the Massachusetts Open Meeting Law, G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18-25, and Section 20 of 

Chapter 20 of the Acts of 2021, notice is hereby given of a meeting of the Massachusetts 

Gaming Commission. The meeting will take place: 
 

Wednesday | January 12, 2022 | 10:00 a.m. 

VIA CONFERENCE CALL NUMBER:   1-646-741-5292 

MEETING ID/ PARTICIPANT CODE: 112 436 0891 

 
Please note that the Commission will conduct this public meeting remotely utilizing collaboration technology. Use 

of this technology is intended to ensure an adequate, alternative means of public access to the Commission’s 

deliberations for any interested member of the public. If there is any technical problem with the Commission’s 

remote connection, an alternative conference line will be noticed immediately on www.massgaming.com.  
 
All documents and presentations related to this agenda will be available for your review on the morning of the 

meeting date by visiting our website and clicking on the News header, under the Meeting Archives drop-down. 

 

PUBLIC MEETING - #367 

1. Call to Order 

  

2. Administrative Update - Karen Wells, Executive Director   
a. On-site Casino Updates –Bruce Band, Assistant Director, Gaming Agents 

Division Chief  
 

3. Community Affairs Division – Joe Delaney, Chief of Community Affairs  

a. Encore Boston Harbor Development Update 

 

4. Racing Division - Dr. Alex Lightbown, Director of Racing 

a. Quarterly Local Aid Payments - Chad Bourque, Financial Analyst VOTE 

 

5. Covid-19 Policy 

a. Office Reopening Update - Karen Wells, Executive Director  VOTE  

b. Gaming Agent Schedule - Loretta Lillios, Director of Investigations and 

Enforcement Bureau; Bruce Band, Assistant Director, Gaming Agents 

Division Chief 

6. Hiring Authority Policy – Karen Wells, Executive Director; Todd Grossman, General 

Counsel; Eileen O’Brien, Commissioner       VOTE 

 



 

 

 

7. Procurement Process Review - Karen Wells, Executive Director; Todd Grossman, General 

Counsel; Derek Lennon, Chief Financial and Accounting Officer  

 

8. Legal Division – Todd Grossman, General Counsel 

a. Table Game Rules: Draft Amendments to Pai Gow Poker – Carrie Torrisi, 

Associate General Counsel; Bruce Band, Assistant Director, Gaming Agents 

Division Chief; Burke Cain, Field Manager of Casino Operations and 

Gaming Agent Assistant Division Chief    VOTE 

          

9. Commissioner Updates 

 

10. Other Business - Reserved for matters the Chair did not reasonably anticipate at the time of 

posting.  

 

I certify that on this date, this Notice was posted as “Massachusetts Gaming Commission Meeting” at 

www.massgaming.com and emailed to  regs@sec.state.ma.us.  

January 6, 2022 

 

 

Chair  

 

 
Posted to Website:  January 7, 2022 | 1:30 p.m. 

http://www.massgaming.com/
mailto:regs@sec.state.ma.us


101 Station Landing, Suite 2200, Medford, MA 02155 

May	1,	2019	

Edward	R.	Bedrosian	Jr.	
Executive	Director	
Massachusetts	Gaming	Commission	
101	Federal	Street,	12th	Floor	
Boston,	MA	02110	

Re:	 Revision	to	Wynn	MA,	LLC	Gaming	Establishment	

Dear	Executive	Director	Bedrosian:	

The	purpose	of	this	letter	is	to	request	approval	of	an	updated	gaming	establishment	
boundary	 to	 reflect	 Encore	 Boston	 Harbor’s	 final	 design	 and	 include	 additional	
outdoor	amenities	integral	to	the	gaming	establishment.		As	further	set	forth	below,	
the	revised	gaming	establishment	boundary	will	allow	for	additional	entertainment	
and	other	programing	opportunities;	is	consistent	with	the	Gaming	Act	and	otherwise	
enhances	 the	 gaming	 area	 by	 making	 the	 gaming	 establishment	 a	 more	 overall	
attractive	destination.			

Background	

On	May	15,	2014,	the	Massachusetts	Gaming	Commission	(“Commission”)	approved	
a	gaming	establishment	boundary	for	Encore	Boston	Harbor	that	included	the	gaming	
area,	hotel,	meeting	and	convention	spaces,	ball	room,	retail	areas,	restaurants/food	
and	 beverage/lounge	 areas,	 nightclub,	 back	 of	 house,	 underground	 parking	 areas,	
physical	plant/facilities	maintenance,	and	all	public	spaces	related	to	those	spaces.	
See	Decision	Regarding	the	Determination	of	Premises	of	the	Gaming	Establishment	for	
Mohegan	Sun	MA,	LLC	and	Wynn	MA,	LLC,	May	15,	2015,	attached	as	Exhibit	A	hereto.		

In	 evaluating	 its	 statutory	 authority	 to	 determine	 the	 boundary	 of	 a	 “gaming	
establishment,”	the	Commission	concluded:	

“[u]nder	G.L.	c.	23K,	§10(a),	hotels	are	necessarily	part	of	the	gaming	
establishment.	 Beyond	 that,	 though,	 by	 use	 of	 the	 term	 ‘may’	 in	 the	
definition	 of	 ‘gaming	 establishment,’	 it	 is	 clear	 that	 the	 Legislature	
intended	to	provide	the	Commission	great	latitude	in	determining	the	
components	of	the	gaming	establishment.	 	The	latitude	was	designed	
so	 that	 the	 Commission	 is	 able	 to	 include	 any	 element	 within	 the	
gaming	 establishment	 that	 it	 deems	 necessary	 to	 ensure	 proper	
regulation	of	the	gaming	licensee.”	

Id.	at.	page	4.		



	
	

101 Station Landing, Suite 2200, Medford, MA 02155 

	
In	 applying	 its	 authority	 to	 specific	 elements	 of	 gaming	 establishment,	 the	
Commission	set	out	a	four	part	test:	(1)	the	component	is	a	non-gaming	structure,	(2)	
the	component	is	related	to	the	gaming	area,	(3)	the	component	is	under	common	
ownership	and	control	of	the	gaming	applicant,	and	(4)	whether	the	Commission	has	
a	regulatory	interest	in	including	it	as	part	of	the	gaming	establishment.		The	fourth	
component	only	comes	into	play	where	the	first	three	components	are	satisfied.		Id.	
at	page	7.			
	
Under	this	analysis,	the	Commission	found	that	the	gaming	area,	hotel,	meeting	and	
convention	 spaces,	 ball	 room,	 retail	 areas,	 restaurants/food	 and	 beverage/lounge	
areas,	nightclub,	back	of	house,	underground	parking	areas,	physical	plant/facilities	
maintenance,	and	all	public	spaces	related	to	those	spaces	were	within	the	boundary	
of	the	gaming	establishment	for	Encore	Boston	Harbor.		Id.	at	page	10.			
	
Conversely,	 the	 Commission	 found	 that	 Horizon	 Way,	 internal	 roadways	 on	 the	
remaining	 part	 of	 the	 Encore	 Boston	 Harbor	 site,	 the	 harbor	 walk	 and	 exterior	
parking	areas	were	not	part	of	the	gaming	establishment.		Id.	at	page	9.		The	basis	for	
excluding	these	areas	was	that	they	did	not	satisfy	the	first	component	of	the	test	in	
that	they	are	not	“structures	in	the	traditional	sense”	and	that	“the	Commission	does	
not	have	any	regulatory	interest	in	overseeing	those	areas”		Id.1		Other	parts	of	the	
open	space	amenities	were	not	proposed	as	part	of	 the	gaming	establishment	and	
therefore,	were	not	evaluated	by	the	Commission.			
	

Revised	Gaming	Establishment	Proposal	
	

Encore	Boston	Harbor	now	proposes	to	alter	its	gaming	establishment	boundary	by	
including	certain	open	space	amenities	that	are	integral	to	the	gaming	establishment	
and	 enhance	 the	 gaming	 area.	 	 As	 depicted	 in	 Exhibit	 B,	 these	 include	 the	 porte-
cochere	 structure;	 outdoor	 terrace	 areas	 along	 the	 west	 and	 south	 side	 of	 the	
ballroom	portion	of	the	property,	and	other	outdoor	event	space	and	structures.		All	
of	 these	spaces	will	be	programed	 for	guest	experiences,	 entertainment	and	other	
seasonal	outdoor	events	and	functions.				
	
These	additional	amenities	meet	the	Commission’s	four	part	test	for	inclusion	as	part	
of	 the	Encore	Boston	Harbor	gaming	establishment.	 	First,	all	spaces	proposed	are	
non-gaming	structures.		The	term	“structure”	is	not	defined	in	the	Gaming	Act	and	the	
Commission	has	broad	discretion	in	determining	what	structures	are	included	within	
the	 gaming	 establishment.	 	 Turning	 to	 the	 plain	meaning	 of	 the	 term	 “structure,”	
Webster’s	 Dictionary	 defines	 structure	 as	 “something	 constructed	 or	 built”.		
Structure,	Webster’s	Third	New	International	Dictionary	(3rd	ed.	2002).	 	All	of	 the	

																																																								
1	These elements were not proposed for inclusion by Encore Boston Harbor but were raised by the City of 
Boston in furtherance of its argument that it was a Host Community for Encore Boston Harbor.   



	
	

101 Station Landing, Suite 2200, Medford, MA 02155 

outdoor	elements	and	amenities	proposed	to	be	included	in	the	gaming	establishment	
are	 adjacent	 to	 the	 casino	 and	 hotel	 podium	 and	 were	 carefully	 designed	 and	
constructed	(in	some	cases	through	the	use	of	extensive	landscaping)		to	be	used	by	
Encore	 Boston	 Harbor’s	 guests.	 	 These	 include	 finished	 surface	 areas,	 seating,	
gazebos,	 significant	 horticulture	 improvements,	 and	 other	 edifices	 –	 all	 clearly	
aspects	 of	 the	 project	 that	 were	 “constructed	 and	 built”	 as	 part	 of	 the	 gaming	
establishment.	 	Moreover,	 these	 structures	 are	 consistent	with	 outdoor	 amenities	
approved	by	the	Commission	as	part	of	the	MGM	Springfield	Gaming	Establishment	
boundary,	 including	a	plaza	area,	hotel	drop	off	area	and	surface	parking	 lots.	 	See	
April	23,	2018	Memorandum	from	Staff	Recommending	Approval	of	MGM	Springfield	
Gaming	Establishment	Boundary,	attached	hereto	as	Exhibit	C.	
	
Second,	these	outdoor	amenities	are	related	to	the	gaming	area	in	that	they	enhance	
the	 gaming	 area	 by	 making	 the	 gaming	 establishment	 a	 more	 overall	 attractive	
destination.		These	outdoor	amenities	and	the	programing	for	them	will	draw	visitors	
to	the	gaming	establishment,	including	for	the	unique	view	of	Boston	Harbor	and	the	
skyline.			
	
As	to	the	third	part	of	the	Commission’s	test,	the	space	is	owned	by	Wynn	MA,	LLC,	
the	owner	of	Encore	Boston	Harbor.			
	
In	satisfaction	of	the	fourth	part	of	the	Commission’s	test,	the	Gaming	Commission	
does	 have	 an	 interest	 in	 these	 amenities	 being	 part	 of	 the	 gaming	 establishment.		
Encore	Boston	Harbor	will	program	these	areas	with	entertainment	and	other	events	
for	 its	 guests.	 In	many	 instances,	 these	 spaces	will	 be	utilized	 in	 conjunction	with	
events	 in	 the	 adjacent	 ballroom	 facilities,	 creating	 a	 seamless	 indoor	 and	 outdoor	
environment.		Encore	Boston	Harbor	employees	will	be	responsible	for	staffing	any	
programing	in	these	areas	and	will	also	be	responsible	for	ensuring	the	safety	and	
security	of	guest	using	these	spaces.		The	Commission	has	an	interest	in	ensuring	that	
its	jurisdiction,	rules	and	regulations	apply	to	this	important	part	of	Encore	Boston	
Harbor	gaming	establishment.			
	
Finally,	nothing	included	in	Encore	Boston	Harbor’s	proposal	is	inconsistent	or	seeks	
to	change	the	Commission’s	May	15,	2014	decision,	specifically	as	it	pertains	to	its	
impact	on	host	and	surrounding	communities.		Encore	Boston	Harbor	does	not	seek	
to	include	Horizon	Way,	internal	roadways	on	the	site,	the	harbor	walk	or	exterior	
parking	areas	in	its	revised	boundary.		All	proposed	spaces	are	clearly	within	the	City	
of	Everett.	
	
Based	on	the	above,	Encore	Boston	Harbor	requests	that	the	Commission	approve	a	
revised	gaming	establishment	boundary	as	set	forth	in	Exhibit	B.			
	
	 	



	
	

101 Station Landing, Suite 2200, Medford, MA 02155 

	
Thank	you	for	your	attention	to	this	matter.		Please	contact	me	with	any	questions	or	
concerns.	
	
Regards,	
	
	
	
Jacqui	Krum	
Senior	Vice	President	and	General	Counsel	



COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS 

SUFFOLK, ss. MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 

In the Matter of 
) 
) 
) 

The Determination of the Premises of the Gaming ) 
Establishment for which Mohegan Sun ) 
Massachusetts LLC Seeks Approval in its ) 
RF A-2 Application ) 

The Determination of the Premises of the Gaming 
Establishment for which Wynn MA LLC Seeks 
Approval in its RF A-2 Application 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) ______________________________ ) 

DECISION REGARDING THE DETERMINATION OF PREMISES OF THE GAMING 
ESTABLISHMENT FOR MOHEGAN SUN MA. LLC AND WYNN MA, LLC 

1. Introduction and Background 

On December 31,2013 applicants Mohegan Stm MA, LLC ("Mohegan") and Wynn MA, 
LLC ("Wynn") filed RF A-2 applications 1 with the Massachusetts Gaming Commission 
("Commission"). Mohegan and Wynn are competing for the award ofthe sole Category 1 
gaming license to be awarded by the Commission in Region A. Mohegan and Wynn are the only 

applicants in Region A that entered into host community agreements with Revere and Everett, 

respectively and were approved by a referendum vote in those communities. 

Each applicant listed the City of Boston ("City") as a surrounding community, as defined 

in G.L. c. 23K, § 2,2 in their RFA-2 application. However, on March 19, 2014, the City filed 
with the Commission a "Declaration" stating that the City was a host community to the Mohegan 
application and a Declaration stating that the City was a host community to the Wynn 
application. On April 3, 2014, in response to those Declarations, the Commission issued a notice 

of public meeting which included a process whereby the Commission would determine the 

1 RF A-2 applications are portions of an application for a gaming license that focus on the features and economic 
yield of an applicant's proposed gaming establishment. See 205 CMR 118 and 119. A separate portion ofthe 
application called an RF A-1 focuses on the applicant's suitability to hold a gaming license. See 205 CMR Ill and 
115. Only applicants whom the Commission has found to be suitable may file the RFA-2 application. 
2 The term "surrounding communities" is defmed by G.L. c.23K, §2 as "municipalities in proximity to a host 
community which the commission determines experience or are likely to experience impacts from the development 
or operation of a gaming establishment, including municipalities from which the transportation infrastructure 
provides ready access to an existing or proposed gaming establishment." 

Attachment A



premises of the gaming establishment as defined in G.L. c. 23K, § 23 for the Mohegan and Wynn 
applications based upon their respective RF A-2 applications. A copy of the hearing notice is 
attached as Exhibit A. The Commission took that course because, under the statute, the location 
of those premises determines whether a municipality is or is not a host community. The 
Commission set May 1, 20 14 as the date of the public meeting for the determinations. 

Since its inception, the Commission has routinely offered members of the public an 
opportunity to comment on matters before the Commission in an effort to help shape the 
Commission's thinking and to ensure that the Commission reviews issues from a variety of 
angles. Consistent with that practice, the Commission requested the applicants, the City and any 
other interested persons to submit briefs and affidavits to the Commission on either or both of the 
two questions by Aprill7, 2014; reply briefs were due on April24, 2014. The Commission 
requested that public comment be submitted in the form of briefs to ensure that the information 
was presented in a uniform, concise manner and ultimately in a format that the Commission 
determined would be most beneficial to it as it endeavored to make the determinations regarding 

the location of the premises. Briefs and/or reply briefs were submitted by Mohegan, Wytm, the 
City of Revere and an organization called No Eastie Casino. The City submitted a letter 
challenging the Commission's jurisdiction over the issue, alleging that the Commission's 
chairman should recuse himself from the deliberations and stating that the Commission should 
resolve some issues regarding the land in Everett where Wynn proposed to locate its 
establishment before resolving gaming establishment questions. 

Pursuant to the process outlined in the Commission's notice of hearing, persons 
submitting a brief/reply brief were allowed to present to the Commission at the public meeting. 
On April30, 2014, the Commission also invited the City to appear and present at the May 1 
public hearing notwithstanding that the City did not submit a brief or reply brief. On May 1, 
2014, the Commission granted the City's request for a one-week continuance of the meeting and 
moved it to May 8, 2014. 

At the public hearing on May 8, 2014, oral presentations were made to the Commission 
by Mohegan, Wynn, the City of Revere, No Eastie Casino, and the City. At the close of the 
public hearing, the Commission deliberated and issued a decision in principle detem1ining the 
premises of the gaming establishment for Mohegan and determining the premises of the gaming 

establishment for Wynn. It stated an intention to issue this written decision after review at its 
next public meeting. 

2. Issues Presented 

There are two issues before the Commission. Those issues are to: 

3 The tenn "gaming establishment" is defined by G.L. c.23K, §2 as "the premises approved under a gaming license 
which includes a gaming area and any other nongaming structure related to the gaming area and may include, but 
shall not be limited to, hotels, restaurants or other amenities." 

2 



1. Determine the premises of the gaming establishment for which Mohegan Sun 
Massachusetts LLC seeks approval in its RFA-2 application; and 

2. Detem1ine the premises of the gaming establishment for which Wynn MA LLC 
seeks approval in its RFA-2 application. 

Based upon the briefs, reply briefs and public submissions received by the Commission, the 
presentations made to the Commission at the May 8, 2014 public hearing and the information 
provided to the Commission in the RF A-2 application submitted by Mohegan and by Wynn, the 
Commission makes the following findings: 

The premises of the gaming establishment for which Mohegan seeks approval in its RFA-
2 application consists of the components as shown on the site plan attached to this Determination 
as Exhibit Band as further discussed below. All of the premises of the gaming establishment for 
which Mohegan seeks approval in its RFA-2 application are located in the City of Revere. 

The premises of the gaming establishment for which Wynn seeks approval in its RF A-2 
application consists of the components as shown on the site plan attached to this Determination 
as Exhibit Candas further discussed below. All ofthe premises of the gaming establishment for 
which Wynn seeks approval in its RFA-2 application are located in the City ofEverett. 

3. Discussion 

In accordance with G.L. c. 23K, § 1 "the power and authority granted to the commission 
shall be construed as broadly as necessary for the implementation, administration and 
enforcement of [G.L. c.23K]." Further, "[t]he commission shall have all powers necessary or 
convenient to carry out and effectuate its purposes .... " G.L. c.23K, §4. "The commission may 
issue not more than 3 category 1licenses" one each in Region A, Region Band Region C. G.L. 
c.23K, §19(a). 

As part of the award of each gaming license, the Commission must determine what the 
premises of the gaming establishment are. That is, it must determine which premises will be 
subject to regulatory oversight by the Commission. The Commission's determination in this 
regard is required by G.L. c 23K, §2 which defines the "gaming establishment" as: "the 
premises approved under a gaming license which includes a gaming area14l and any other 
nongaming structure related to the gaming area and may include, but shall not be limited to, 
hotels, restaurants or other amenities." 

4 The term "gaming area" is defined by G.L. c. 23K, § 2 as "the portion ofthe premises of the gaming establishment 
in which or on which gaming is conducted." 

3 



Under G.L. c. 23K, §lO(a), hotels are necessarily part of the gaming establishment.5 

Beyond that, though, by use of the term "may" in the definition of' gaming establishment,' it is 
clear that the Legislature intended to provide the Commission great latitude in determining the 
components of the gaming establishment. The latitude was designed so that the Commission is 

able to include any element within the gaming establishment that it deems necessary to ensure 
proper regulation of the gaming licensee. 

Once the gaming establishment is determined by the Commission, the question of 
whether a municipality is a host community or a surrounding community and thus entitled to 
rights pertaining to a host community or a surrounding community provided under G.L. c. 23K 
becomes clear and flows organically as a matter of law. Chapter 23K, §2 defines a host 
community as: "a municipality in which a gaming establishment is located or in which an 

applicant has proposed locating a gaming establishment." Chapter 23K, §2 defines surrounding 
communities as: "municipalities in close proximity to a host community which the commission 
determines experience or are likely to experience impacts from the development or operation of a 
gaming establishment, including municipalities from which the transportation infrastructure 
provides ready access to an existing or proposed gaming establishment." It is clear that the host 
community determination is a matter of geographic location of the gaming establishment while 
surrounding community status6 is determined based by impacts. 

a. Mohegan briefs and presentations 

The Commission received briefs and an oral presentation from Mohegan, the City of 
Revere and No Eastie Casino, and an oral presentation from the City on the definition of the 
gaming establishment for which Mohegan seeks approval under its RFA-2 application. All of 
the written material received and reviewed by the Commission is available for public review on 
the Commission's website, www.massgaming.com. 

The City argued that the gaming establishment for which Mohegan seeks approval 
includes the horse racing track owned and operated by Suffolk Downs. The City urged that 

Suffolk Downs, pursuant to an agreement with Mohegan, leases a portion of the Suffolk Downs 
property in Revere to Mohegan for the development and operation of the gaming establishment 
and that the track, which sits on a parcel of land located both in East Boston and Revere, is an 
amenity to the gaming establishment. Moreover, the City contended, the agreement between 
Mohegan and Suffolk Downs provides that Suffolk Downs will receive rent in the form of basic 
rent and additional rent based upon gaming revenues generated at the gaming establishment. 
The City argues that those provisions make Mohegan and Suffolk Downs "joint venturers" in the 

5 G.L. c.23K, § lO(a) states in pertinent part: "a gaming licensee shall make a capital investment of not less than 
$500,000,000 into the gaming establishment which shall include, but not be limited to, a gaming area, at least 1 
hotel and other amenities as proposed in the application for a category 1 license." (Emphasis added). 
6 The Commission promulgated regulations further outlining the process for the determination of a surrounding 
community. See 205 CMR 125.00. 

4 



gaming establishment and that the gaming establishment includes the track as a nongaming 
structure related to the gaming area. 

Mohegan's presentation to the Commission defined the gaming establishment as 
including the gaming area, two hotels, parking areas, restaurants, nightclubs, bars, spas, retail 
area, convention/meeting space and internal roadways. Mohegan stated that, unlike with the 

original proposal forwarded by Suffolk Downs, the gaming establishment in Mohegans's 
proposal and the track are owned by separate entities; that Mohegan has no control over the track 
and Suffolk Downs does not have operational control over the proposed gaming establishment; 
Suffolk Downs is a landlord to Mohegan and receives rent; and the receipt of rent based upon 
revenues generated is a common feature of a commercial lease. Mohegan acknowledged that the 
agreement between Mohegan and Suffolk Downs did contain a provision that allowed Suffolk 
Downs to require, at Suffolk Down's option and at some unnamed future date, to take over the 
operation of the track. Mohegan and Suffolk Downs stated that by mutual agreement of the 
parties that provision in the agreement has been deleted. Both Mohegan and Suffolk Downs 
asserted that even if that provision had remained in place, the gaming establishment and the track 
would remain owned by separate legal entities and that the provision did not provide for a sale of 
the track to Mohegan. 7 

Suffolk Down's presentation to the Commission stressed that no property on which the 
track was located, whether in Revere or East Boston, was part of the real property leased to 
Mohegan. In addition, there was no marketing agreement between Mohegan and Suffolk Downs 

to jointly market the track and the gaming establishment. The Commission asked Suffolk 

Downs whether the track was an amenity to the gaming establishment. Suffolk Downs 
responded by saying that in its view, to be an amenity, the track has to be located on the same 
real propetty as the gaming establishment and must be controlled by the gaming establishment. 
Neither situation existed here. The Commission further asked Suffolk Downs whether the 
revenues from the agreement with Mohegan, if used to support track operations, would make the 
track an amenity. Suffolk Downs responded that profits received do not create an amenity. 

The City of Revere argued that the proposed gaming establishment is located entirely in 
Revere, that Revere will provide all emergency police and fire services, and that all water and 
sewer connections would be provided by Revere. 

No Eastie Casino's supported the City's position. No Eastie Casino stated that Mohegan 
presented the track as an integral part of its application for a gaming license. It also urged that 
the impacts from the proposed gaming establishment cannot be separated from East Boston and 
that this proposal is no different in that respect from the earlier proposal submitted by Suffolk 
Downs. 

7 The provision at issue also included language making any such exercise of the option subject to Commission 
approval and if allowed by law. Where the provision bas been removed from the agreement the Commission 
declines to comment on whether an exercise of the option would have been legal. 

5 



b. Wynn briefs and presentations 

The Commission received briefs and oral presentations from Wynn, and No Eastie 
Casino, and an oral presentation from the City on the definition of the gaming establishment for 
which Wynn seeks approval under its RFA-2 application. All ofthe written material received 
and reviewed by the Commission is available for public review on the Commission's website, 
www.massgaming.com. 

The City first argued that the option agreement for the real property on which Wynn 
proposed to locate the gaming establishment is not valid and without a valid agreement for the 
land there can be no gaming establishment. The agreement's invalidity, in the City's view, stems 
from issues regarding FBT Everett Realty LLC, the land's owner, which the Commission 
explored extensively at hearings it held on December 13 and December 16, 2014. The 
Commission understands the City's argument to be that ifFBT Everett Realty LLC is unsuitable 
the agreement between FBT Everett Realty LLC therefore violates G.L. c. 23K and that, as a 
result, there can be no gaming establishment. However, FBT Everett Realty LLC is not a 
"qualifier" as defined in G.L. c. 23K, §14 or 205 CMR 116.00 and the City's argument is not 
supported by the Commission's investigation, prior findings or conditions imposed on FBT 
Everett Realty LLC at the conclusion of the commission's December hearings. 

The City further argued to the Commission that ifthere is in fact a valid agreement for 
the purchase of the real property, there is still an issue with access to the real property. While 
Wynn proposed alternate access through a new access point in Everett, the current access is 
through Horizon Way, which begins in part in the City. Their argument hinged on Beale v 
Planning Board of Rockland, 423 Mass. 690 (1996). The City's assertion based on Beale is 
essentially that if Horizon Way will be used to access a casino and casinos are not pem1itted in 
that part of the City then the road cannot be used for casino use so there is no access to the 
proposed gaming establishment. 

The City further argued that Wynn's RFA-2 application listed attractions in the City, such 
as a marketing agreement with the TD Garden and the Boston Symphony Orchestra, and that the 
proposed water shuttle from the gaming establishment will take patrons of the gaming 
establishment to locations in the City. Based upon these activities, it suggested, the gaming 
establishment includes amenities located in the City. 

No Eastie Casino argued in support of the City's position making specific note of the 
access to the proposed gaming establishment, and the agreements with attractions in the City. No 
Eastie Casino further supported the City's interpretation of the Beale case and its relevance to the 
access issue. 

Wy1m's presentation to the Commission defined the gaming establishment as the gaming 
area, two hotels, parking areas, restaurants, nightclubs, bars, spas, retail area, and 

6 



convention/meeting space. Wynn presented the site plan of the proposed gaming establishment 
and described in detail each aspect and how it was part of the gaming establishment. 

Wynn disagreed with the City's interpretation of the Beale case, stating that the Beale 
case is a zoning use case and is not relevant to the definition of the gaming establishment under 
G.L. c. 23K. While Wynn's preferred access is not through Horizon Way, Wynn stated that 
I Iorizon Way is an existing public road that runs from Alford Street and is bisected by the 
Everett border. Wynn cannot own or change Horizon Way. Horizon Way, Wynn urged, 
provides "ready access" to the proposed gaming establishment. As a result, to the extent that 
Horizon Way is in the City, the City's "transportation infrastructure provides ready access to [a] . 
. . proposed gaming establishment," which makes the City a surrounding community within the 
definition contained in G.L. c. 23K, § 2. 

In sum, Wyllll stated that physical location defines the host community; access and 
impacts define the surrounding community. Based upon the definitions in M.G.L. c. 23K, Wynn 
stated that its proposed gaming establishment is located in Everett. 

c. Analysis and determinations 

The Commission considered all of the briefs, reply briefs, and oral presentations made at 
the May 8, 2014 hearing and the information provided in each of Mohegan and Wynn's RFA-2 
applications. The Commission considered those materials in light ofG.L. c.23K and specifically 
the definitions of"gaming area," "gaming establishment," "host community," and "surrounding 
community" found in G.L. c.23K, §2. When viewed as a whole, the law sets out essentially a 
four part analysis to determine what features proposed by the applicant will be part of a gaming 
establishment. That is, whether the feature: (1) is a non-gaming structure, (2) is related to the 
gaming area, (3) is under common ownership and control ofthe gaming applicant, and (4) the 
Commission has a regulatory interest in including it as part of the gaming establishment. Part 4 
only comes into play though, where the first three parts are satisfied. The control element of part 
3 is implicit in the statute's licensing and registration requirement, see G.L. c. 23K, §§30 through 
32, the requirement for the licensee to own or control all land on which the gaming establishment 
is located, G.L. c. 23K, §15(3), and the statute's general structure which places control ofthe 
licensee at the heart of the Commission's regulatory authority. 

As a result, and for the following reasons, the Commission has determined that the 
gaming establishment for the Mohegan application is as identified in Exhibit B, and the gaming 
establishment for the Wynn application is as identified in Exhibit C. 

Mohegan's gaming establishment 

In the case of Mohegan, the Commission concludes that the gaming area and the 
nongaming structures related to the gaming area all are located in Revere. 

7 



The Commission considered the arguments regarding the track as an amenity to the 
gaming establishment and determined that it does not satisfy all elements of the 4 part test set 
forth above and as such, is not an amenity to be included in the gaming establishment. Given the 
lack of proximity between the entrance to the track from the entrance to the gaming area, no 
infrastructure connecting the structures, lack of common ownership or control of track operations 

by Mohegan now, and in the future based upon the parties mutual agreement to delete the 
provision in the agreement between them that would have allowed Suffolk Downs to require 
Mohegan to manage the track and lack of any cross marketing plans or agreements between the 
two entities we find that the track is not related to the gaming area. 

On the record presently before the Commission, the Commission concludes that the 
gaming area, hotels, meeting rooms, spas, ball room, retail areas, restaurants/food and 
beverage/lounge areas, nightclub, back of the house, underground parking areas, physical 
plant/facilities maintenance, and all public areas related to those spaces meet the 4 part test and 
are accordingly part of the gaming establishment. They are all non-gaming structures that are 
related to the gaming area. They are related in that they are included to support the gaming area 
by making the entire facility a more attractive destination. They are all owned by Mohegan. In 
its discretion, the Commission considers them to be amenities to the gaming area because it has 
an interest in, amongst other things, ensuring that all employees working in those areas are 
licensed or registered in accordance with 205 CMR 134.00 and having knowledge of the flow of 
money through these areas. Such control helps ensure the integrity of gaming in the 

Commonwealth through strict oversight. 

For similar reasons the Commission, again in the exercise of its discretion, does not 
consider the internal roadways on the site, entrance to the property, and exterior parking areas to 
be part of the gaming establishment. Although they are owned by Mohegan, the Commission 
does not have any regu]atory interest in overseeing those areas. They are all subject to 
governmental oversight in the ordinary course and there is no additional benefit to including 
those areas within the gaming establishment. Further, by inclusion of hotels and restaurants as an 
example of an amenity in the definition of gaming establishment in G.L. c.23K, §2, the 
Legislature suggested that the term structure be applied in its traditional sense. Here, where 
those areas would not be structures in the traditional sense, they would not meet part 1 of the 
analysis and as such cannot be included as part of the gaming establishment. 8 

Wynn's gaming establishment 

In the case of Wynn, the Commission found that the concerns raised by the City about 
FBT Everett Realty LLC are a separate matter and not part of the determination of the premises 
of the gaming establishment for a number of reasons. First, the members of FBT are not "parties 

8 It is possible that some parts of the internal roadway could be made part of the gaming establishment for limited 
purposes in the future. See G.L. c.23K, §6(c). 

8 



in interest to the gaming license, including affiliates and close associates and the financial 
resources ofthc applicant." G.L. c.23K, §12(a)(6). Further, they are not individuals who possess 

"a financial interest in a gaming establishment, or with a financial interest in the business of the 
gaming licensee or applicant for a gaming license or who is a close associate of a gaming 
licensee or an applicant for a gaming license." G.L. c.23K, § 14(a). Nor do they fit into a 

category of individuals whom the Commission has specifically identified as having to be 
qualified as part of the RF A-1 suitability determination or have the ability to exercise control or 

provide direction to Wynn. See 205 CMR 116.02. Essentially, once the transfer ofthe land is 
complete, FBT Everett Realty LLC will have no further involvement with the gaming licensee. 
Accordingly, where they are not qualifiers to the Wynn proposal, the Commission has and will 
continue to deal with them separately. 

The primary issue raised by the City was essentially that because Horizon Way is partly 
in the City, the City is a host community. However, Horizon Way does not satisfy the 4 part 

analysis and it is not part of the gaming establishment. For the same reason, internal roadways 

on the site, the harbor walk, and exterior parking areas are not part of the gaming establishment. 
None of these elements are structures in the traditional sense as discussed above. Accordingly, 

they do not satisfy part 1 ofthe analysis and cannot be included as part of the gaming 
establishment. Further, under part 4, the Commission does not have any regulatory interest in 

overseeing those areas. Similarly, though it may be considered a structure, the Commission does 
not have any regulatory interest in overseeing the proposed dock for the water shuttle. They are 

all subject to governmental oversight in the ordinary course and there is no additional benefit to 
including those areas within the gaming establishment.9 As to the City's argument about the 

applicability of the Beale case, we do not fmd Beale to be relevant to the determination in this 

matter. That case was a zoning case and is not applicable here. 

On the record presently before the Commission, and as Wynn has agreed, the 
Commission concludes that the gaming area, hotels, meeting and convention spaces, spas, ball 
room, retail areas, restaurants/food and beverage/lounge areas, nightclub, back of the house, 
underground parking areas, physical plant/facilities maintenance, and all public areas related to 
those spaces meet the 4 part test and are accordingly part of the gaming establishment. They are 

all non-gaming structures that are related to the gaming area. They are related in that they are 
included, at least in part, for purposes of enhancing the gaming area by making the entire facility 

a more attractive destination. They are all owned by Wynn. In its discretion, the Commission 
considers them to be amenities to the gaming area because it has an interest in, amongst other 

things, ensuring that all employees working in those areas are licensed or registered in 
accordance with 205 CMR 134.00 and having knowledge of the flow of money through these 

areas. Such control helps ensure the integrity of gaming in the Commonwealth through strict 
oversight. 

9 lt is possible that some parts of the internal roadway could be made part of the gaming establishment for limited 
purposes in the future . See G.L. c.23K, §6(c). 

9 



The Commission further considered the arguments raised by the City and by No Eastie 
Casino regarding cross marketing agreements with entities, such as the TD Garden and Boston 

Symphony Orchestra, located in the City and the fact that the City may be an attraction for 
patrons of the gaming establishment. Cross marketing agreements and encouraging gaming 
establishment patrons to visit other regional attractions is in fact a goal set forth in G.L. c. 23K. 
See e.g. G.L. c.23K, §§1(6), 9(a)(13), 9(a)(18), and 18(5). Each applicant for a gaming license is 
evaluated in part on how the applicant proposes to support other local and regional business and 
increase tourism. The fact that Wynn has cross marketing agreements and intends to provide 
water shuttle transportation to parts of the City's waterfront are simply actions by Wynn to 

comply with the requirements ofG.L. c. 23K. Further, none ofthese attractions is related to the 
gaming area, Wynn has no ownership or control over their operations, and the Commission does 

not have an interest in regulatory oversight of these entities. 

4. Conclusion 

Based upon the briefs and reply briefs submitted and public submissions received by the 

Commission, the presentations made to the Commission at the May 8, 2014 public meeting, and 
the infom1ation provided to the Commission in the RFA-2 application submitted by Mohegan the 

Commission determines that the premises of the gaming establishment for which Mohegan Sun 

Massachusetts, LLC seeks approval in its RF A-2 application consists of the gaming area, hotels, 
meeting rooms, spas, ball room, retail areas, restaurants/food and beverage/lounge areas, 
nightclub, back of the house, underground parking areas, physical plant/facilities maintenance, 
and all public areas related to those spaces, and that based upon the definition of gaming 

establishment found in G.L. c. 23K, §2, the premises of the gaming establishment are located in 
Revere. The gaming establishment is identified in the attached Exhibit B as the area located 

within the black marker boundary line. 

Based upon the briefs and reply briefs submitted and public submissions received by the 

Commission, the presentations made to the Commission at the May 8, 2014 public meeting, and 
the information provided to the Commission in the RF A-2 application submitted by Wynn MA, 
LLC the Commission determines that the premises of the gaming establishment for which Wynn 
MA, LLC seeks approval in its RFA-2 application consists ofthe gaming area, hotels, meeting 
and convention spaces, spas, ball room, retail areas, restaurants/food and beverage/lounge areas, 
nightclub, back of the house, underground parking areas, physical plant/facilities maintenance, 

and all public areas related to those spaces, and that based upon the definition of gaming 
establishment found in G.L. c. 23K, §2, the premises of the gaming establishment are located in 

Everett. The gat?ing establishment is identified in the attached Exhibit C as the area located 
within the black marker boundary line. 

A plain review of the definitions of the terms 'host community' and 'surrounding 
communities' reveals a clear legislative intent that a host community be determined ba<>ed solely 

upon matters of geography, and that surrounding communities be determined based upon 

10 



impacts. Our findings relative to location of the respective gaming establishments for the 
Mohegan and Wynn applications are consistent with that intent. The Mohegan gaming 
establishment is located solely in Revere. Accordingly, by definition, the City of Boston is not a 
host community to that project. The Wynn gaming establishment is located solely in Everett. 
Accordingly, by definition, the City of Boston is not a host community to that project. Based 
upon the proximity and impacts from the respective projects, however, the City of Boston is 
clearly a surrounding community to both. 

SO ORDERED. 

MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 

James F. McHugh, 

) 

Gayle Camero ommissioner 

DATED: May 15,2014 

11 



UPDATED 

NOTICE OF MEETING and AGENDA 
May 1, 2014 

EXHIBIT A 

Pursuant to the Massachusetts Open Meeting Law, G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18-25, notice is hereby given of a 
meeting of the Massachusetts Gaming Commission. The meeting wiU take place; 

PUBIJIC MEETING - #118 

l. Call to order 

Thursday, May 1, 2014 
10:30 a.m.-5:00p.m. 

Boston Ccnvention and Exhibition Center 
415 Summer Slreet, Room 102A 

Boston, MA 

2. Determine the premises of the gaming establishment for which Mohegan Sun Massachusetts, LLC seeks 
approval in its RFA-2 application. 

3. Determine the premises of the gaming establishment for which Wynn MA, LLC seeks approval in its 
RF A-2 application. 

• In anticipation of the May I, 2014 discussion by the Commission, public comment is hereby requested 
essentially in the form of legal briefs or memoranda relative: to agenda items 2 and 3. 

• The briefS should be prepared so as to assist the Commission in its discussion of agenda items 2 and 3 
referenced above. Any individual or group may submit a brief relative to one or both of the 
aforementioned agenda items. The briefs should state the reasons for the position(s) taken, identify 
supporting legal authorities, and include any sworn affidavits, authenticated documents, and other 
relevant evidence not otherwise included in an RF A-2 application. Briefs shall be limited to 15 pages 
exclusive of attachments. 

• Initial briefs are due by April17 ,1014 at 5 p.m. All briefs, including any affidavits and other 
documents submitted with the briefs, will be posted on www.massgami~U?,&.()!J.l the day after the due 
date. 

• Any individual or group may submit a reply brief by April14, 1014 at 5 p.m. An individual or group 
need not have submitted an initial brief to submit a reply brief. A reply brief, however, may only 
address specific issues that were addressed in a brief submitted by another individual or group. Reply 
briefs shall be limited to 10 pages exclusive ofattachments. All reply briefs, including any affidavits 
and other documents submitted with the reply briefs, will be posted on www.massgaming.coiTJ the day 
after the due date. 

• A brief or reply brief may be submitted by way of mail or hand delivery to the Commission's office or 
via email at catherine.blue@state.ma.us and todd.grossman@state.ma.us. No briefs or reply briefs will 
be accepted or considered if received by the Commission after the submission deadline. 

• At any time before conclusion of the May I, 2014 meeting the Commission may request the City of 
Boston or the applicants or any other individual or group to provide the Commission with documents 
:or other information the Commission believes would be helpful in determining the location of the 
proposed gaming establishments. 

Mass~chusetts Gamir.g Commission 

84 State Stu:ei, li!tl. Finn,-, IJo;tun, :-.h•;snchuwtr,, 0210'1 I ru. 6:7 97<J.3400 I F1\X 617.725.0258 11ww.m.u~gaming.com 



• The City of Boston and the Region A applicants for a gaming license will be invited to offer an oral 
presentation to the Commission at the public meeting on May I, 2014 if they have submitted a brief or 
reply brief. The Commission may invite any <Jther individual or group that has filed a brief or reply 
brief to make an oral presentation at the public meeting. No person or group will be permitted to 
address the Commission relative to agenda items 2 and 3 unless they have submitted a brief. Oral 
presentations should be confined to the subject areas contained in the brief and/or reply brief submitted 
by the individual or group. 

• Speakers representing a municipality or applicant will be allotted 30 minutes for oral presentation. All 
other speakers will be allotted 15 minutes . The Commission may allow a speaker more time if helpful 
to clarifY an issue. A group may split its allotted speaking time amongst multiple speakers. 

• ln reviewing the issues before it, the Commission may ask any question(s) of any individual and 
review and consider any document or other source of information. For purposes of the record of the 
meeting, the Commission will take notice of the contents oflhe RFA-2 applications submitted by 
Mohegan Sun Massachusetts, LLC and Wynn MA, LLC. 

• After discussion by the Commission, the Commission will announce its determination as to whether 
the City of Boston is a host community for each of the two proposals. After the conclusion of the 
hearing, the Commission will issue written fmdings that describe the respective gaming establishments 
for the projects the applicants have proposed. 

4. Approval of Minutes 
a. March 6, 2014 
b. April 17,2014 

5. Administration- Rick Day, Executive Director 
a. General Update 
b. High Perfonnance Project Scope Consideration- Commissioner Cameron 
c. Potential Changes to 23K and Legislation -Chairman Crosby 
d. Request for Comment on Design Excellence 

6. Legal Report - Todd Grossman, lX.>puty General CoWlsel 
a. New Qualifiers Regulations- Rick Day, Executive Director 

7. Information Technology Division- John Glennon, CIO 
a. Slots Standards and Approval Process Regulations 

8. Other biJsiness - reserved for matters the Chair did not reasonably anticipate at the time of posting. 

A•y matters on the apnda for May 1, 2104 that the Commission dots not addreu at the May 1" meeting will be 
addreued at the May l, 2014 111eeting aclleduled for 10:30 a.m. at the Boston Convention and Es.hlbltion Center, 41S 
Summer Street, Room lOlA, Boetoa, MA. 

I certify that on this date, this Notice was posted a.~ "Gaming Commission Meeting" at \'Lil''C'.JJ:IaSS!Utlll\!uhr..Jl.!ll_and emailed to: 
r~~IT0Ht~,r.:n:•.ll.S.. meljssa.aJ)Jirade@s1mg,ma.us. 

_$ dcirt 'I . ~~;~~;·~'"'' (~,~~ 
Date Posted to Webtite; Apri128, 2014 at 10:30 a.m. :'\ 



---------------------------------------------
~ 

,. . . ' .. , . ,.. W 
. .-

d ~ ~ , iBl tl t!itl~ ?r " 1 \~~ce: I 

I! 
;II 

~----·--, 

~ 

MAIN FLOOR PLAN ENLARGED 
4-5 SGHEi\1."-TlC DESIGN 

KPF EXHIBITS 
~~, .... ~ ______ _ 

IP 2014 KOHN PEDE~SEN FOX ASSOCIATES PC. ALL RIGHTS RESEIIVED. 

_____ ,~·=1'~ ~~-

MOHEGAN SUN MASSACHUSE1TS, LLC 

( J = OUTLINE OF GAMING ESTABLISHMENT 



I~ 

I 

i 

I 
! 

____ j 

---=--· ::;- . 
I 
I 



D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D
D

D

D

DD

D

D

D

UP

NEW  MATERIALS

WAREHOUSE

FACILITY

(NOT A PART)

MBTA

CENTRAL STORES BUILDING

2-STORY

(NOT A PART)

PLANT CENTRAL

HEATING

(NOT A PART)

ELECTRIC

SUBSTATION

MBTA

BUS OVERHAUL BUILDING

2-STORY

(NOT A PART)

P

R

O

P

E

R

T

Y

 

L

I

N

E

PROPERTY LINE

PROPERTY LINE

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 L
IN

E

C
IT

Y
 O

F
 B

O
S

T
O

N

C
IT

Y
 O

F
 E

V
E

R
E

T
T

C
I
T

Y
 
O

F
 
B

O
S

T
O

N

C
I
T

Y
 
O

F
 
E

V
E

R
E

T
T

B R O A D W A Y

A
 L

 F
 O

 R
 D

   
S

 T

C

I

T

Y

 

O

F

 

B

O

S

T

O

N

C

I

T

Y

 

O

F

 

E

V

E

R

E

T

T

F

E

F

F

DN

DN

UP

UP

HB

H

B

H

B

H
B

H
B

H
B

H
B

H
B

H
B

H
B

H
B

VESTIBULE

01018

STAIR

#P01

P01-1

TERRACE A

STAIR

#P04

P04-1

TERRACE C

BOH

CORRIDOR

01206

RETAIL

PROMENADE

01200

BOH CORRIDOR

01224

RED 8 KITCHEN

01242

WOMEN'S

TOILET

01232

SERVICE BAR 1

01236

ASIAN

MARKETING

OFFICE

01235

A/V STORAGE

01167

A/V ADMIN

OFFICE

01169

BANQUET

SERVICE &

BEVERAGE

01205

A/V ADMIN

01168

ELECTRICAL

01170

ELECTRICAL

01171

WOMEN'S

TOILET

01203

MEN'S

TOILET

01204

JANITOR

CLOSET

01202

RETAIL 14

01822

RED CARD

STORAGE

01836

RED CARD

MANAGER

OFFICE

01837

MEN'S

TOILET

01813

WOMEN'S

TOILET

01814

VALET SHIFT

MANAGER

01818

VALET

01817

VESTIBULE

01816

KS1 ELEV

LOBBY

01825

STORAGE

01826

GSP9 & GSP10

ELEV LOBBY

01830

JANITOR

CLOSET

01839

APOTHECARY

01824

KITCHEN 2

01802

WOMEN'S TOILET

01841

MEN'S TOILET

01838

FRONT OFFICE

01524

WAITING

01819

TP1-6 ELEV

LOBBY

01519

RETAIL 13

SUNDRIES

01520

VIP

REGISTRATION

01517

MEN'S

TOILET

01512

WOMEN'S

TOILET

01511

VIP

REGISTRATION

DESK MANAGER

01516

SERVICE BAR 6

01508

RETAIL 12

01507

VGP1 ELEV

LOBBY

01249

SINATRA'S

01504

VESTIBULE

01254

WOMEN'S TOILET

01247

STAIR #P25

P25-1

HK1-2 & RS1 ELEV

LOBBY

01252

TRASH

01253

PRIVATE DINING

01245

PRIVATE DINING

01246

MEN'S

TOILET

01231

JANITOR

CLOSET

01230

WARE WASH

01302

FOH CORRIDOR

01201

GSP1 & GSP2

ELEV LOBBY

01258

ATM

01259

RETAIL

PROMINADE

01262

VIP

REGISTRATION

SUPPORT

01514

VESTIBULE

01812

FAMILY TOILET

01840

BOH CORRIDOR

01166

BUSINESS

SERVICES

01405

XRAY

01403

BUSINESS

SERVICES

MANAGER

01404

LIQUOR PUMP

ROOM

01408

OFFICE

SERVICES

01406

INVENTORY

CONTROL

01407

MCF1 & MCS1-3

SERVICE ELEV

LOBBY

01402

MEN'S TOILET

01701

WOMEN'S TOILET

01703

PAD

01705

EMERGENCY

CARD STORAGE

01707

COMPRESSOR

ROOM

01714

CARD STORAGE

01706

CARD

DESTRUCTION

01708

VAULT

01710

MAN TRAP

01709

SECURITY

MONITOR

MANAGER

01718

ASSISTANT

DIRECTOR OF

SECURITY

01723

DIRECTOR OF

SECURITY

01724

GUEST

OFFICE

01729

CONFERENCE

ROOM

01725

BRIEFING ROOM

01722

SECURITY

MONITOR ROOM

01717

LOST & FOUND

01719

SECURITY

ADMINISTRATION

01720

SECURITY

INVESTIGATION

01726

DIRECTOR

SECURITY

INVESTIGATIONS

01727

PANTRY

01731

ASSISTANT

DIRECTOR

SECURITY

INVESTIGATIONS

01728

HOLDING

ROOM

01733

TOILET

01739

SURVEILLANCE

ROOM

01738

SENIOR

SUPERVISING

GAMING AGENT

01735

GAMING

COMMISSION

OFFICE

01734

STATE POLICE

LIEUTENANT

01736

SECURITY

STORAGE

01737

SECURITY

STORAGE

01730

WOMEN'S TOILET

01327

JANITOR

CLOSET

01326

MEN'S TOILET

01328

MEN'S TOILET

01331

JANITOR CLOSET

01330

WOMEN'S TOILET

01332

JANITOR CLOSET

01745

WOMEN'S TOILET

01746

SERVICE BAR 3

01744

HOLDING

ROOM

01742

BUFFET KITCHEN

01312

ALLEGRO

01749

LOBBY

01740

GSP5 & GSP6

ELEV LOBBY

01419

SERVICE BAR 2

01418

JANITOR

CLOSET

01702

PASTRY

01222

PAD

01223

MAIN KITCHEN

01226

CRAFT BEER

KITCHEN

01257

RETAIL 10

01256

MEN'S TOILET

01220

RETAIL STORAGE

01218

RAW BAR

01255

STEWARD

STORAGE

01211

VP OF HOTEL

OPERATIONS

01215

DIRECTOR OF

HOTEL

OPERATIONS

01214

CONFERENCE

ROOM

01213

DIR. OF GUEST

SERVICES

01216

HOTEL

ADMINISTRATION

01212

PANTRY

01217

MAIN BANK

01619

SAFE DEPOSIT

01602

SD PRIVATE

ROOM

01601

MEN'S TOILET

01620

WOMEN'S TOILET

01621

STORAGE

01622

CREDIT

01623

PANTRY

01624

CHIP STORAGE

01617

SHIFT

MANAGER'S

OFFICE

01618

ASSISTANT

OFFICE

01606

STORAGE

01605

DIRECTOR'S

OFFICE

01604

WORK AREA

01603

CHIP BANK

01616

MARKER BANK

01615

WORK AREA

01614

HOST CAGE

01613

HOST OFFICE

01611

MAN TRAP

01609

HOST LOUNGE

01612

VESTIBULE

01610

STAIR #G07

G07-1

PANTRY

01515

RFB LOUNGE

01518

BOH CORRIDOR

01313

STAIR #P13

P13-1

STAIR

#P15

P15-1

STAIR

#P14

P14-1

STAIR #HR2

HR2-1

MAIN CAGE

01607

STAIR #G05

G05-1

BEVERAGES

01317

KITCHEN ENTRY

01315

CHECKOUT

01316

MEN'S TOILET

01906

JANITOR CLOSET

01905

COUNT ROOM

01711

SECURE DROP

ROOM

01712

OFFICE

01713

VESTIBULE

01715

STAIR #P32

P32-1

BOH CORRIDOR

01400

BOH CORRIDOR

01700

BOH CORRIDOR

01704

GSP7 & GSP8

ELEV LOBBY

01741

STAIR #P20

P20-1

STAIR #P21

P21-1

STAIR #P31

P31-1

STAIR

#P03

P03-1

ELEV

CPP1

ELEV

GSP1

ELEV

GSP2

ELEV

VGP1

01VGP1

ELEV

TP3

ELEV

TP6

ELEV

TP5

ELEV

TP4

ELEV

GSP9

ELEV

GSP10

ELEV

BEP1

STAIR #P44

P44-1

STAIR #P43

P43-1

PROBLEM

GAMING OFFICE

01829

PROBLEM

GAMING

COUNSELOR

01828

ELEV

GSP7

ELEV

GSP8

ELEV

CRS1

ELEV

GSP5

ELEV

GSP6

ELEV

MCF1

ELEV

MCS1

ELEV

MCS2

WOMEN'S TOILET

01903

VESTIBULE

01901

LOBBY

01827

STAIR

#HR1

HR1-1

EMPLOYMENT

CENTER

01207

RETAIL STORAGE

01210

JANITOR CLOSET

01904

DRY STORAGE

01240

ICE

01239

JANITOR CLOSET

01747

SLOT HOST

OFFICE

01907

STAIR #P16

P16-1

STAIR

#P17

P17-1

STAIR #P18

P18-1

MACERATION

01225

SW STEAKHOUSE

01800

STAIR #P22

P22-1

STAIR

#P33

P33-1

STAIR #P35

P35-1

STAIR #P34

#P34

P34-1

VESTIBULE

01900

PRIVATE DINING

01811

COAT CLOSET

01809

SECURITY

STORAGE

01732

ELEV

MCS3

UNAS

01401

PANTRY & PRINT

AREA

01716

STAIR #P30

P30-1

STAIR #P29

P29-1

STAIR #P46

P46-1

STAIR #P45

P45-1

DUNKIN DONUTS

01636

AREA 4

01634

AREA 5

01633

SERVICE BAR 4

01902

AREA 6

01632

BEER COOLER

01833

BAR

01834

WARE WASH

01806

BEER & WINE

COOLER

01807

SERVICE BAR

01808

KITCHEN

2 ENTRY

01801

COOLER

01803

COOLERS &

FREEZER

01805

?

?

AREA 8

01629

AREA 9

01628

AREA 1

01627

OFFICE

01241

OFFICE

01228

WARE WASH

01229

CORRIDOR

01250

TERRACE E

MEETING ROOM 5

01130

TERRACE D

OFFICE

01804

POT WASH

01305

KITCHEN ENTRY

01306

VESTIBULE

01303

SERVICE BAR

01304

SERVERY

01314

BUFFET

01300

MEN'S TOILET

01248

STAIR

#P05

P05-1

STAIR

#P07

P07-1

?

?

ELEV

HK2

STAIR #P41

P41-1

STAIR #P19

P19-1

STAIR

#P10

P10-1

STAIR

#P11

P11-1

STAIR

#P12

P12-1

TERRACE G

COOLER

01243

BEER

COOLER

01509

RED CARD

01835

ELEV

EEP1

TERRACE F

OFFICE

01227

JANITOR

CLOSET

01815

SW ENTRY

01810

STORAGE

01743

BOH CORRIDOR

01301

STAIR # P38

P38-1

ESCALATOR

ECE 1

ESCALATOR

ECE 2

PREP

01320

BREAKDOWN

01319

BOH CORRIDOR

01219

BOH CORRIDOR

01251

ELEV

KS1

ELEV

RS1

ELEV

TP2

ELEV

TP1

JANITOR CLOSET

01277

RED 8

01244

MEN'S TOILET

01748

ELEV

CF1

E
E

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

2R @ 5

3

4

"H.

T

T

D

T

T

T

T

T

T

P

A

U

L

A

3

0

3

4

"

 

X

 

5

4

"

R

U

I

R

U

I

3

0

3

4 "

 

X

 

5

6

3

4 "

L

A

U

R

A

A

S

I

A

3

0

3

4

"

 

X

 

5

3 1

2

"

N

O

R

T

H

0 60'

SCALE:  1"=60'

120'30'

L1009100_WynnEverett_Tower_V15_ARCH_dstomatuk-JacobsLogo_Blue_Small-6602886.jpg

Number Description Date

Consultants:

Seals:

Copyright:         Lifescapes International Inc.

Project No.:

Drawing Sheet Title:

Drawing Sheet Number:

CONSTRUCTION

DOCUMENTS

2016-09-16

One Broadway

Cambridge, Massachusetts

02142

P  617.491.6450

F  617.491.7104

W  www.Jacobs.com

Project Client:

Everett, MA

Wynn Boston Harbor

Project Title:

734 Pilot Road

Las Vegas, Nevada  89119

P 702.770.5000

F 702.770.5003

15004

Wynn Design & Development

General Notes:

BOSTON HARBOR
TM

Key Plan:

SHEET ORIENTATION

PLAN - 1"=10'-0" SCALE

SHEETS

L-GL-1.02A

1

UPDATED BASE

CRF#076

1 2017-07-28BULLETIN 037

2

2 2017-08-03BULLETIN 122

CONFORMED SET 2018-03-08

CONFORMED SET - MARCH 8, 2018

3

3

4 2018-06-01BULLETIN 049

4

4

Exhibit B

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
ACTIVE RAIL LINES

AutoCAD SHX Text
ACTIVE RAIL LINES

AutoCAD SHX Text
ONLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
ONLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
ONLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
ONLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
ONLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
ONLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
ONLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
ONLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
ONLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
ONLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
ONLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
ONLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
ONLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
ONLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
VALET OUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EMPLOYEE DROP-OFF

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUS

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUS

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAXI STOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
SELF PARK OUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECURITY PARKING

AutoCAD SHX Text
SERVICE ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
EMPLOYEE PICK-UP

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAXI QUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SELF PARK IN

AutoCAD SHX Text
WP

AutoCAD SHX Text
WP

AutoCAD SHX Text
30/3

AutoCAD SHX Text
30/3

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF LAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIFESCAPES

AutoCAD SHX Text
International Inc

AutoCAD SHX Text
4930 Campus Drive Newport Beach, CA 92660 p: 949.476.8888  f: 949.476.8854

AutoCAD SHX Text
Landscape Architects

084254
PolyLine

084254
PolyLine

084254
PolyLine

084254
PolyLine

084254
PolyLine

084254
PolyLine

084254
PolyLine

084254
PolyLine

084254
PolyLine

084254
PolyLine

084254
PolyLine

084254
PolyLine

084254
PolyLine

084254
PolyLine

084254
PolyLine

084254
PolyLine

084254
PolyLine

084254
PolyLine

084254
PolyLine

084254
PolyLine

084254
PolyLine

084254
PolyLine

084254
PolyLine

084254
PolyLine

084254
PolyLine



 
 

 
 
 
 

 

TO: The MGC Commissioners  

FROM: John S. Ziemba 
Joe Delaney 

 

CC: Ed Bedrosian  

DATE: April 23, 2018  

RE: MGM Springfield Gaming Establishment Boundary 
 

At the Commission’s March 15th meeting, MGM Springfield requested an update of the current 
boundary of the MGM Springfield gaming establishment (see Attachment 1).  This boundary has 
not been updated since it was established when MGM Springfield was issued its Category 1 
license in 2014.  Since that time, there have been significant changes to the MGM Springfield 
Project (“Project”), including, but not limited to, the elimination of the hotel tower on State 
Street, the move of the hotel to Main Street, and a determination that residential units may be 
placed off-site.  Commission staff agree that the gaming establishment boundary should be 
updated to reflect the current Project.  Attached please see a site plan that depicts a proposed 
new gaming establishment border for the Project (see Attachment 2).  This new proposed 
boundary resulted from conversations between Commission staff and Project representatives 
since the March 15th meeting.  Commission staff and MGM Springfield representatives 
recommend that the Commission approve of this new proposed boundary for the gaming 
establishment, provided that the Commission agrees to review the boundary again within the 
first two quarters after the Project opens.  With the approved opening date of September 5, 
2018, Commission staff and MGM Springfield representatives recommend that the Commission 
again review the proposed gaming establishment boundary no later than the end of the first 
quarter of 2019 (March 31, 2019).1  By that date, it is likely that the Commission will have 
significant new information about MGM Springfield’s plans for the facility, including but not 
limited to, its plans for 101 State Street. 
 
Brief Summary of Statutory Provisions Involving the Gaming Establishment.  M.G.L. c. 23K, § 2 
defines the “Gaming establishment” as “the premises approved under a gaming license which 
includes a gaming area and any other nongaming structure related to the gaming area and may 
include, but shall not be limited to, hotels, restaurants or other amenities.”  It also sets out the 
definition of a “Gaming license” as “a license issued by the commission that permits the 

                                                      
1 As explained in the recent review of the Project’s schedule, although the approved opening date of September 5, 
2018 was established in 2015, MGM Springfield’s actual opening date may occur earlier, provided that MGM 
Springfield receives the requisite approvals from the Commission.  Despite any potential opening prior to 
September 5, Commission staff and MGM Springfield representatives agree that the March 31, 2019 date for a 
further review of the boundary should remain. 

Exhibit C



 
 
2 | P a g e  

 
 

licensee to operate a gaming establishment.”  M.G.L. c. 23K also states that “[o]fficers and 
employees of the gaming enforcement unit of the state police assigned to the commission 
under section 70 of chapter 22C shall work with employees of the bureau, under the direction 
of the deputy director, to investigate violations of this chapter by a licensee or to investigate 
any activity taking place on the premises of a gaming establishment.”  M.G.L. c. 23K also has 
provisions:  that “regulate and control the distribution of alcoholic beverages in a gaming 
establishment,” that limit the types of live entertainment venues that can be operated at a 
gaming establishment, that prohibit certain tax incentives that could otherwise be used in 
connection with gaming establishment property, that require a minimum capital investment in 
a gaming establishment, that guide gaming establishment property transfers, and that specify 
that community mitigation funds may be used to offset costs related to the construction and 
operation of a gaming establishment.    

In a prior decision the Commission outlined the analysis to determine precisely what is included 
in the premises of a gaming establishment. It stated that “[u]nder G.L. c. 23K, §10(a), hotels are 
necessarily part of the gaming establishment. Beyond that, though, by use of the term ‘may’ in 
the definition of ‘gaming establishment,’ it is clear that the Legislature intended to provide the 
Commission great latitude in determining the components of the gaming establishment.  The 
latitude was designed so that the Commission is able to include any element within the gaming 
establishment that it deems necessary to ensure proper regulation of the gaming 
licensee.”  Decision Regarding the Determination of Premises of the Gaming Establishment for 
Mohegan Sun MA, LLC and Wynn MA, LLC, May 15, 2015, at page 4.  “When viewed as a whole, 
the law sets out essentially a four part analysis to determine what features proposed by the 
applicant [other than the gaming area] will be part of a gaming establishment.  That is, whether 
the feature: (1) is a non-gaming structure, (2) is related to the gaming area, (3) is under 
common ownership and control of the gaming applicant, and (4) the Commission has a 
regulatory interest in including it as part of the gaming establishment.  Part 4 only comes into 
play though, where the first three parts are satisfied.  The control element of part 3 is implicit in 
the statute’s licensing and registration requirement, see G.L. c. 23K, §§30 through 32, the 
requirement for the licensee to own or control all land on which the gaming establishment is 
located, G.L. c. 23K, §15(3), and the statute’s general structure which places control of the 
licensee at the heart of the Commission’s regulatory authority.” Id at page 7.      

It is clear that the application of the gaming establishment boundary has far reaching 
implications to the Commission’s regulatory authority. 

Description of the Proposed Gaming Establishment Boundary.  As noted by MGM Springfield in 
correspondence to the Commission prior to the March 15th meeting, MGM proposes 
“amending the boundary to include floors two and above of the Main Street portion of the 
Project that was formerly proposed to be residential apartments, but will now house the new 
hotel.”  Unlike the original gaming establishment boundary which showed a different boundary 
by floor, with the exception of 101 State Street (see discussion below), the new proposed 
boundary would apply equally to all levels of the Project “from ground to sky.”  As noted by 
MGM Springfield, “[w]ith these changes, the footprint of the Gaming Establishment could be 
consistent throughout all levels with no need to distinguish boundaries by floor level as 
previously required.”    



 
 
3 | P a g e  

 
 

 
Continued Inclusion of First Floor of 101 State Street and Lot Across from MGM Way.  As 
discussed in the March 15th meeting, MGM Springfield continues to determine its plans for the 
first floor of 101 State Street.  This floor has been designated for retail purposes in the City of 
Springfield’s Site Plan approval for the Project and the Commission’s subsequent Project design 
approval in May 2016.  However, as noted by MGM Springfield, Focus Springfield’s lease of the 
floor runs through September 2019 with a mutual early termination right effective November 
2018.  The City of Springfield has expressed that the future use of this space is important to the 
Project.  By March 31, 2019 (the proposed outside date for a further Commission review of the 
gaming establishment boundary), there is a significant possibility that more will be known 
about the future plans for this first floor.  The remainder of 101 State Street is currently 
planned to be used by tenants for office space.  As noted by MGM Springfield, “[t]he back of 
house functions originally proposed for 101 State St., including MGM’s executive and 
operations offices, were integrated into 95 State St., leaving only the first floor as part of the 
Project consisting of retail space the office space for the Commission.  The first floor of 101 
State St. was connected to the casino podium through the then-proposed Commission offices.  
As part of the subsequent modifications, the Commission offices were moved and 101 State St. 
was no longer connected to the casino podium.”  Because of the importance of the gaming 
establishment boundary to the Commission’s jurisdiction and because more will likely be 
known relatively soon about the future of 101 State Street, Commission staff recommend that 
the Commission take no action at this time to remove the first floor of 101 State from the 
boundary of the gaming establishment.  Instead, the Commission could further review the 
boundary as it relates to 101 State Street by March 31, 2019. 
 
Similarly, Commission staff recommend that the Commission take no action at this time on a 
proposal to remove a lot across from MGM Way from the gaming establishment.  MGM 
Springfield notes that this lot will be used as a taxi and ride share waiting area.  By March 31, 
2019, months after the opening of MGM Springfield, it will be much more apparent whether 
Commission jurisdiction over this parcel would be important.    
 
Removal of Floors 2-8 of 101 State Street from Gaming Establishment.  Because floors 2-8 of 
101 State Street will no longer be used for gaming related purposes, the need for Commission 
jurisdiction over such floors becomes more tenuous.  As noted previously, the gaming 
establishment boundary is important to numerous aspects of the Commission’s jurisdiction.  
However, it is not clear that many of these aspects apply here.  For example, no gaming or 
gaming related alcohol sales are planned for these floors. As such, and in recognition of the four 
factor gaming establishment analysis mentioned above, the newly proposed gaming 
establishment boundary excludes floors 2-8 of 101 State Street. 

99 Union Street. 
MGM Springfield also recommends that its property at 99 Union Street in Springfield should not 
be added to the gaming establishment.  It notes that this building has never been part of the 
Project under the Host Community Agreement with Springfield, is outside the Casino Overlay 
District and is physically separated from the rest of the Project by Union Street.  The intended 



 
 
4 | P a g e  

 
 

use of 99 Union Street is for a facilities/engineering workshop and a kennel for K-9s.  99 Union 
Street has not been part of the gaming establishment boundary to date. 
 
Applicability of LEED Gold Standard.  M.G.L. c. 23K, § 18(8) requires that the Project “be 
certified as gold or higher under the appropriate certification category in the Leadership in 
Environmental and Energy Design program created by the United States Green Building 
Council.”  In its letter to MGM Springfield prior to the March 15, 2018 meeting, Commission 
staff indicated that further Commission action would be necessary on 101 State Street because 
it will not achieve LEED Gold status by the opening date (as no major reconstruction is 
anticipated at that building prior to opening).  We recommend the Commission make 
determinations regarding any deadlines or requirements for LEED Gold on the 101 State Street 
building when it reviews any potential changes to the Commission’s MGM Springfield Section 
61 Findings in short order.  As such, we recommend that nothing in this gaming establishment 
boundary approval should be construed to otherwise impact or impair the Commission’s 
Section 61 Findings issued in relation to the MGM Springfield project.  To the degree any impact 
or impairment becomes apparent, we recommend that the Commission address any such 
impact or impairment. 
 
Clarification Regarding Residential Units - The Commission’s construction oversight regulation, 
205 CMR 135.00 defines “Project” as “[t]he gaming establishment as approved by the 
commission and defined in the gaming license awarded by the commission. For purposes of 205 
CMR 135.00, Project may also include such off site infrastructure necessary for the operation of 
the gaming establishment as required by the commission.”  (Italics and underlining added)  The 
planned residential units were not included in the original gaming establishment boundary.  As 
such, they were not part of the gaming establishment for the purposes of the construction 
oversight regulation.  The new proposed gaming establishment boundary also does not include 
the residential units, as they are planned to be off-site, at a location not yet finalized.  Although 
these units have not and will not, under the proposed boundary, be part of the gaming 
establishment, Commission staff recommend that the Commission clarify that the residential 
units are considered part of the Project for the purposes of the construction oversight 
regulation, which, among other items, specifies that the Commission may establish a 
construction schedule for major portions of the Project.   The Commission recently approved a 
new deadline for construction of such units by March 2020, with a new notification date of 
March 2019, under which MGM Springfield is required to finalize plans for the location of such 
units.  
 
Recommendation.  We recommend that the Commission approve the attached new boundary 
for the MGM Springfield gaming establishment and agree to review the boundary again within 
the first two quarters after the Project opens.  We further recommend that the Commission 
clarify that the residential units are considered part of the Project for the purposes of the 
construction oversight regulation.  Finally, we recommend that nothing in this approval shall be 
construed to otherwise impact or impair the Commission’s Section 61 Findings issued in 
relation to the MGM Springfield project.  
 



 
 

 
 
 
 

 

Attachment 1 



 
 
6 | P a g e  

 
 

 



 
 
7 | P a g e  

 
 

 

Attachment 2 











SVP, Authorized Signer

































































































































































































































 
 

 
 

 

M E MO R AN D U M  
 

 

 

 

In accordance with the Commonwealth of Massachusetts Budget and appropriation 1050-0140, local aid is 

payable to each city and town within which racing activities are conducted. Amounts are computed at .35 

percent times amounts wagered during the quarter ended six months prior to the payment. 

 

• City of Boston                   $159,073.69  

• Town of Plainville       $46,894.49 

• Town of Raynham        $22,326.04 

• City of Revere        $79,535.64 

Total local aid quarterly payment | Dec 31, 2021    $307,829.86 

 

With the Commission’s authorization payments will be made to the appropriate cities and towns.          

 

 

 

 

 

 

Encl.  localaid_q4_ cy_ 2021 

Cdb 

 

 

 

 

TO:  Massachusetts Gaming Commission  

FROM:  Chad Bourque, Financial Analyst 

SUBJECT: Local Aid Quarterly Distribution for Q4 CY 2021  

DATE:  January 01, 2022 
 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Computation of Local Aid Distributions Quarter End 12/31/2021

 

Apr, May, June  Local Aid .0035 Payable to City / Town 

Plainridge 5,509,032        

Exports 6,496,311        

Hollywood Bets 1,393,079        

Total 13,398,422      $46,894.49 Plainville

Raynham 6,378,869        $22,326.04 Raynham

Suffolk Downs 7,405,549        

TVG 31,883,076      

Twin Spires 14,517,701      

Xpress Bets 7,420,476        

NYRA Bets 6,912,861        

Total 68,139,663      $238,488.85 Boston 2/3 | Revere 1/3

Wonderland 34,422             $120.48 Boston 2/3 | Revere 1/3

Grand Total 87,951,376      $307,829.86

Distributions:

Town of Plainville  On Plainridge $46,894.49

Town of Raynham  On Raynham $22,326.04

City of Boston (line 1)  On Suffolk $158,993.36

City of Revere (line 1)  On Suffolk $79,495.49

City of Boston (line 2)  On Wonderland $80.33

City of Revere (line 2)  On Wonderland $40.15

Total $307,829.86

Payments should be made to the above communities for the amounts indicated.



 
 

 
 

 

Amounts are computed at .35 percent times amounts wagered during the quarter ended six months prior 

to the payment. 

 

 

 

 

Q2 2021 HANDLES APR MAY JUNE TOTALS

PLAINRIDGE 1,695,002 2,124,985 1,689,045 5,509,032

EXPORTS 1,890,887 2,633,687 1,971,737 6,496,311

WINLINE 473,698 503,929 415,452 1,393,079

TOTALS 4,059,587 5,262,601 4,076,234 13,398,422

RAYNHAM 2,047,621 2,481,666 1,849,582 6,378,869

SUFFOLK 2,298,529 2,917,077 2,189,943 7,405,549

TVG 9,856,889 12,827,327 9,198,860 31,883,076

TWS 3,954,274 6,644,242 3,919,185 14,517,701

XPRESS BETS 2,834,865 2,721,819 1,863,792 7,420,476

NYRA 2,041,674 2,836,877 2,034,310 6,912,861

TOTALS 20,986,231 27,947,342 19,206,090 68,139,663

WONDERLAND 12,036 13,695 8,691 34,422

 TOTALS 27,105,475 35,705,304 25,140,597 87,951,376



 

1.03.01 Hiring authority 

Introduction 

This policy relative to hiring authority is intended to be read in conjunction with section 1.03: 
Hiring of the Commission’s Human Resources Policy Manual and intended to clarify the 
authority of the Executive Director to make certain hiring decisions. This policy shall also be 
read in harmony with the statutory hiring provisions contained in G.L. c. 23K, and not 
interpreted so as to create a conflict therewith. To the extent any conflict does arise, the 
relevant statutory provision shall govern.   

Statutory authority 

The hiring authority granted the Commission, and the executive director is described in G.L. c. 
23K, § 3. The following provisions relate to hiring authority: 

• “The commission shall appoint an executive director. The executive director shall serve 
at the pleasure of the commission … .” G.L. c. 23K, § 3(i). 

• “The executive director shall appoint and employ a chief financial and accounting officer 
and may, subject to the approval of the commission, employ other employees, 
consultants, agents and advisors, including legal counsel, … .” G.L. c. 23K, § 3(i) 
(emphasis added). 

• “The executive director may, from time to time and subject to the approval of the 
commission, establish within the commission such administrative units as may be 
necessary for the efficient and economical administration of the commission and, when 
necessary for such purpose, may abolish any such administrative unit or may merge any 
2 or more units.” G.L. c. 23K, § 3(j) (emphasis added). 

• “The executive director may appoint such persons as the executive director shall 
consider necessary to perform the functions of the commission; … .” G.L. c. 23K, § 3(k). 

Process 

According to section 3, the Commission has exclusive authority to appoint the executive 
director. Similarly, according to section 3, the executive director has the exclusive authority to 
appoint the chief financial and accounting officer (“CFAO”). Whereas the employment of every 
other employee, consultant, agent, and advisor of the Commission is subject to the approval of 
the Commission, they shall be appointed as follows: 

 

Employees who are designated as holding a major policymaking position 

The term ‘major policymaking position’ is defined in G.L. c. 268B, § 1 as: 

 



 

the executive or administrative head of a governmental body, all members of the 
judiciary, any person whose salary equals or exceeds that of a state employee 
classified in step 1 of job group XXV of the general salary schedule contained in section 
46 of chapter 30 and who reports directly to said executive or administrative head, the 
head of each division, bureau or other major administrative unit within such 
governmental body and persons exercising similar authority. 

Employees of the Commission who meet this definition and are so designated for purposes of 
chapter 268B, shall be considered as such for purposes of this policy. These positions typically 
include those at the ‘director’ or ‘chief’ levels. If there is a vacancy in a position that has been 
designated as a major policymaking position, or other reason why a need arises to fill such a 
position, the Commission shall determine its level of involvement in the hiring process at a 
public meeting. Such involvement may include, but not be limited to, designation of one or two 
commissioners to participate in the hiring process, notification and/or review of the job 
posting, implementation of notification requirements at key points of the hiring process, and/or 
delegation of the hiring process to the executive director under any conditions it deems 
prudent.    

Employees who are not designated as holding a major policymaking position 

All employees, consultants, agents, and advisors of the Commission, other than the executive 
director and CFAO, who are not designated as holding a major policymaking position may be 
appointed at the sole discretion of the executive director that is consistent with the approved 
number of available positions determined by the Commission through the annual budget 
process or a supplemental public meeting.    



PAI GOW POKER 
 

Rules 
 
 

1. Definitions 
 

The following words and terms, when used in this section, shall have the following 
meaning unless the context clearly indicates otherwise. 

 
Bank - shall mean the player who elects to have the other players and dealer play against him or 
her and accepts the responsibility to pay all winning wagers. 

 
Bonus wager - shall mean an optional wager that the player’s seven cards will form a qualifying 
poker hand, regardless of the manner in which the player set the high hand and the low hand. All 
bonus wagers shall be banked by the house. 

 
Co-banking - is defined in Section 10. 

 
Copy hand - shall mean either a two card hand or a five card hand of a player which is identical 
in rank to the corresponding two card hand or five card hand of the dealer or bank. 

 
EZ Pai gow poker- A variation of pai gow poker in which vigorish is not collected. 

 
Envy bonus - shall mean an additional fixed sum payoff made to a player who placed a bonus 
wager of at least $5.00 when another player at the pai gow poker table is the holder of a premium 
qualifying poker hand. A player is entitled to multiple envy bonuses if more than one other 
player is the holder of a premium qualifying poker hand; provided, however, that a player is not 
entitled to an envy bonus for their own cards or the cards of the dealer. 

 
Envy bonus qualifying hand - A player's pai gow poker hand with a rank of a four-of-a-kind or 
better formed from the seven cards dealt to a player. 

 
High hand - shall mean the five-card hand which is formed from the seven cards dealt at the 
game of pai gow poker so as to rank equal to or higher than the two card low hand. 

 
Low hand - The two-card hand that is formed from the seven cards dealt so as to rank equal to or 
lower than the five-card high hand. 

 
Marker - shall mean an object or objects used to designate the bank and the co-bank, as approved 
by the Commission. 

 
Pai gow insurance wager - shall mean an optional wager as authorized by Section 15, that the 
player’s seven cards will form a seven card hand with a rank of ace or lower (a “pai gow”), for 
which a payout will be awarded pursuant to Section 16(c), regardless of the manner in which the 



player sets the high hand and the low hand and regardless of the outcome of the player’s pai gow 
poker wager. 

 
Premium qualifying poker hand - shall mean a five-card or seven-card poker hand with a rank of 
four-of-a-kind or higher formed from the seven cards dealt to a player. 

 
Push - is a tie as defined in Section 9(h). 

 
Qualifying poker hand - shall mean a five-card or seven-card poker hand with a rank of straight 
or higher formed from the seven cards dealt to a player. 

 
Qualifying Wager - An Emperor's Treasure Wager, Fortune Bonus Wager or a Dynasty Bonus 
Wager of at least $5 which may entitle a player to an Envy Bonus. 

 
Queen's Dragon - The dealer's seven cards of different ranks which do not form a straight, a 
flush, a straight flush or a royal flush but contain a queen high card. 

 
Rank or ranking - shall mean the relative position of a card or group of cards as set forth in 
Section 3. 

 
Second highest or low hand - shall mean the two-card hand which is formed from the seven 
cards dealt at the game of pai gow poker so as to rank equal to or lower than the five-card high 
hand. 

 
Set or setting the hands - shall mean the process of forming a high hand and low hand from the 
seven cards dealt. 

 
Seven-card bonus wager - shall mean an optional wager, as authorized by Section 17, that the 
player’s seven card hand will form a five-card poker hand (best five cards out of seven cards) for 
which a payout is awarded pursuant to Section 18, regardless of the manner in which the player 
sets the high hand and the low hand and regardless of the outcome of the player’s pai gow poker 
wager. 

 
Suit - shall mean one of the four categories of cards, i.e., diamond, spade, club or heart. 

 
Three-card bonus wager - shall mean an optional wager, as authorized by Section 17, that the 
player’s first three cards will form a three-card poker hand that contains a straight flush with no 
joker, three-of-a-kind, a straight flush, a straight, a flush or one pair. 

 
2. Cards; number of decks 

 

(a) Except as provided in (b) below, pai gow poker shall be played with one deck of cards with 
backs of the same color and design, on additional cutting card and one additional cover card 
to be used in accordance with the procedures set forth in Section 6. The cut card and cover 
card shall be opaque and in a solid color readily distinguishable from the color of the backs 
and edges of the playing cards, as approved by the Commission. The deck of cards used to 



play pai gow poker shall meet the requirements of 205 CMR 146.48 and shall include one 
joker. Nothing in this section shall prohibit a gaming licensee from using decks which are 
manufactured with two jokers provided that only one joker is used for gaming at pai gow 
poker. 

 
(b) If an automated card shuffling device is used for pai gow poker, a gaming licensee shall be 

permitted to use a second deck of cards to play the game, provided that: 
(1) Each deck of cards complies with the requirements of (a) above; 
(2) The backs of the cards in the two decks are of a different color; 
(3) One deck is being shuffled by the automated card shuffling device while the other deck is 

being dealt or used to play the game; 
(4) Both decks are continuously alternated in and out of play, with each deck being used for 

every other round of play; and 
(5) The cards from one deck only shall be placed in the discard rack at any given time. 

 
3. Pai gow poker rankings; cards; poker hands 

 

(a) The rank of the cards used in pai gow poker, in order of highest to lowest rank, shall be: ace, 
king, queen, jack, ten, nine, eight, seven, six, five, four, three, and two. Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, an ace may be used to complete a "straight flush" or a "straight" formed with a 2, 
3, 4 and 5. Except as otherwise provided in (c) below, the joker shall be used and ranked as 
an ace. 

 
(b) The permissible poker hands at the game of pai gow poker, in order of highest to lowest rank, 

shall be: 
(1) "Five aces" is a high hand consisting of four aces and a joker; 
(2) “Royal flush” is a high hand consisting of an ace, king, queen, jack and ten of the same 

suit; however, for purposes of the progressive payout wager, a “natural royal flush” is a 
royal flush which does not use a joker; 

(3) "Straight flush" is a high hand consisting of five cards of the same suit in consecutive 
ranking, with ace, 2, 3, 4 and 5 being the highest ranking straight flush; king, queen, jack, 
10, and 9 being the second highest ranking straight flush, and 6, 5, 4, 3 and 2 being the 
lowest ranking straight flush; 

(4) "Four-of-a-kind" is a high hand consisting of four cards of the same rank regardless of 
suit, with four aces being the highest ranking four-of-a-kind and four twos being the 
lowest ranking four-of-a-kind; 

(5) "Full house" is a high hand consisting of a "three-of-a-kind" and a "pair," with three aces 
and two kings being the highest ranking full house and three twos and two threes being 
the lowest ranking full house; 

(6) "Flush" is a high hand consisting of five cards of the same suit. When comparing two 
flushes the provisions of (e) below shall be applied; 

(7) "Straight" is a high hand consisting of five cards of consecutive rank, regardless of suit, 
with an ace, king, queen, jack and 10 being the highest ranking straight; an ace, 2, 3, 4 
and 5 being the second highest ranking straight, and a 6, 5, 4, 3 and 2 being the lowest 
ranking straight; 



(8) "Three-of-a-kind" is a high hand containing three cards of the same rank regardless of 
suit, with three aces being the highest ranking three-of-a-kind and three twos being the 
lowest ranking three-of-a-kind; 

(9) "Two pairs" is a high hand containing two "pairs," with two aces and two kings being the 
highest ranking two pair hand and two threes and two twos being the lowest ranking two 
pair hand; and 

(10) "Pair" is either a high hand or a low hand consisting of two cards of the same 
rank, regardless of suit, with two aces being the highest-ranking pair and two twos being 
the lowest ranking pair. 

 
(c) For purposes of setting the hands, a joker may be used as any card to complete a "straight," a 

"flush," a "straight flush" or a "royal flush." 
 

(d) Notwithstanding the provisions of (b) above, a gaming licensee may, in its discretion, 
determine that a straight flush formed with an ace, 2, 3, 4 and 5 of the same suit shall be the 
lowest ranking straight flush and that a straight formed with an ace, 2, 3, 4 and 5, regardless 
of suit, shall be the lowest ranking straight. If a gaming licensee chooses to exercise this 
option, it shall so indicate in its Rules of the Games Submission. 

 
(e) When comparing two high hands or two low hands which are of identical poker hand rank 

pursuant to the provisions of this section, or which contain none of the poker hands 
authorized herein, the hand which contains the highest ranking card as provided in (a) above 
which is not contained in the other hand shall be considered the higher ranking hand. If the 
two hands are of identical rank after the application of this subsection, the hands shall be 
considered a copy hand. 

 
(f) If a gaming licensee offers the optional bonus wager authorized by Section 15, the following 

seven card hands, each of which shall have a rank higher than a five-card poker hand of five 
aces, shall be used to determine the amount of the bonus wager payout or envy bonus 
payment to which a winning patron is entitled pursuant to Section 16: 
(1) “Seven-card straight flush with no joker” is a seven-card hand consisting of seven cards 

of the same suit in consecutive ranking, with no joker being used to complete the straight 
flush; 

(2) “Royal flush plus royal match” is a seven card hand consisting of an ace, a king, a queen, 
a jack and a ten of the same suit, with or without a joker, with one of the following pre- 
selected by the gaming licensee: 

(i) An additional king and queen of a same suit; or 
(ii) An additional ace and king of the same suit, without a joker (natural); and 
(3) “Seven-card straight flush with joker” is a seven-card hand consisting of seven cards of 

the same suit in consecutive ranking with a joker being used to complete the straight 
flush. 

 
(g) For purposes of pay table “B” for the seven-card bonus wager at Section 18(c), a “straight 

flush with joker” is a hand consisting of five cards of the same suit in consecutive ranking, 
one of which is the joker, and a “straight flush without joker” is a hand consisting of five 
cards of the same suit in consecutive ranking, none of which is the joker. 



 

(h) If a gaming licensee offers the insurance wager authorized by Section 15, a joker is ranked as 
an ace for purposes of determining this wager. 

 
(i) If the licensee offers the optional Emperor’s Treasure Wager under Section 7(e)(2), the 

following seven-card hands shall have a rank higher than a hand of five aces, as described in 
(b)(1) above, and shall be used to determine the amount of the Emperor’s Treasure Wager 
payout or Envy Bonus payout to a winning player: 
(1) A seven-card straight flush with no joker, which is a hand consisting of seven cards of the 

same suit in consecutive ranking, with no joker used to complete the straight flush. 
(2) A royal flush plus ace and king suited, which is a seven-card hand consisting of an ace, 

king, queen, jack and a 10 of the same suit, with or without a joker, and an additional ace 
and king of the same suit without a joker. 

(3) A seven-card straight flush with joker, which is a hand consisting of seven cards of the 
same suit in consecutive ranking with a joker being used to complete the straight flush. 

 
(j) If a licensee offers the optional Progressive Payout Wager under Section 7(e)(4), the 

following seven-card hands shall be used to determine the amount of the progressive payout 
to a winning player: 
(1) Seven-card straight flush is a hand consisting of seven cards of the same suit in 

consecutive ranking, with or without a joker. 
(2) Five aces, which is a hand consisting of four aces and a joker. 
(3) A royal flush, which is a hand consisting of an ace, king, queen, jack and 10 of the same 

suit or a king, queen, jack and 10 of the same suit and a joker. 
(4) A straight flush, which is a hand consisting of five cards of the same suit in consecutive 

ranking. 
(5) A four-of-a-kind, which is a hand consisting of four cards of the same rank. 
(6) A full house, which is a hand consisting of a three-of-a-kind and a pair. 

 
(k) If the licensee offers the optional Dynasty Bonus Wager under Section 7(e)(5)(ii), in addition 

to the hands described in (b) above, the following hands shall also be used to determine the 
amount of the Dynasty Bonus or Envy Bonus payout to a winning player: 
(1) An ace/five natural straight flush and a natural ace/queen suited, which is a hand 

consisting of an ace, 2, 3, 4 and 5, without a joker, and an additional ace and queen of the 
same suit without a joker. 

(2) A seven-card natural straight flush, which is a hand consisting of seven cards of the same 
suit in consecutive ranking, without a joker used to complete the straight flush. 

(3) A natural royal flush and a natural ace/king suited, which is a hand consisting of an ace, 
king, queen, jack and a 10 of the same suit, without a joker, and an additional ace and 
queen of the same suit without a joker. 

(4) A seven-card straight flush, which is a hand consisting of seven cards of the same suit in 
consecutive ranking, with a joker used to complete the straight flush. 

(5) An ace/five natural straight flush, which is a hand consisting of an ace, 2, 3, 4 and 5, 
without a joker. 



(l) The licensee may choose to offer the optional Fortune Pai Gow Wager under Section 
7(e)(1), which is more fully described in Section 20.  
 

(l) The licensee has the option to allow for the Fortune Pai Gow wager on their pai gow poker 
tables. 

(1) A Fortune Pai Gow poker wager may be an amount no less than $5 to no more than $200. 
The Player determines the amount he wishes to wager. 

(2) A Fortune Pai Gow poker wager of $5.00 automatically qualifies as an ENVY BONUS 
wager. When a Player qualifies for the Envy Bonus they will be entitled to receive an 
additional bonus on any Player's hand of four-of-a kind or higher. 

(3) The BANKER"S HAND NEVER qualifies for an ENVY BONUS PAYOUT. 
(4) A Fortune Pai Gow Poker wager must be placed prior to commencement of that round of 

play. The Player will place their BONUS wager in the designed area of the layout for 
BONUS wager. 

(5) The Dealer will place a specially designed ENVY BUTTON on top of any bonus wager 
of $5.00 or more. 

(6) All (7) seven cards qualify for all bonuses. 
(7) Due to the ENVY BONUS FEATURE of this game, ALL HANDS MUST BE 

EXPOSED. 
 

Pay table: 
 FORTUNE BONUS PAYOUTS 
Hand FORTUNE BONUS ENVY BONUS 

7 - Card Straight Flush (NO JOKER) 8000 to 1 $5,000 
Royal Flush Plus Royal Match* 2000 to 1 $1,000 
7 -Card Straight Flush (WITH JOKER) 1000 to 1 $500 
Five Aces 400 to 1 $250 
Royal Flush 150 to 1 $50 
Straight Flush 50 to 1 $20 
Four of a Kind 25 to 1 $5 
Full House 5 to 1  
Flush 4 to 1 
Three of a Kind 3 to 1 
Straight 2 to 1 

 
* Royal Flush (with or without joker) with an additional two cards of a suited King and 
Queen 

 
4. Pai gow poker shaker and dice; computerized random number generator; button 

 

(a) Unless a gaming licensee offers the optional bonus wagers authorized by Section 17 and 
follows the dealing procedures set forth therein, the starting position for the deal or delivery 
of cards in pai gow poker shall be determined by using one of the following methods: 
(1) Three dice and a pai gow poker shaker, which shall meet the requirements of 205 CMR 

146.45 and 205 CMR 146.21, respectively, and be used in accordance with 205 CMR 
146.21 and Section 8b(b). 
(i) The three dice shall be maintained at all times within the pai gow poker shaker. 
(ii) The pai gow poker shaker and the dice contained therein shall be the responsibility of 

the dealer and shall never be left unattended while at the table. 

Commented [TC1]: This section has been moved to 
Section 20 



(iii) No dice that have been placed in a pai gow poker shaker for use in gaming shall 
remain on a table for more than 24 hours. 

(2)  A computerized random number generator that, in accordance with 205 CMR 146.21 
and Section 8c(c), shall automatically select and display a number from 1 through 7 
inclusive. 

(3)  If an automated card shuffling device and dealing shoe is used pursuant to Sections 8b 
and 8c(d), a button that is moved by the dealer clockwise around the table as each round 
of play is completed. 

 
5. Opening of the table for gaming 

 

(a) After receiving a deck of cards at the table in accordance with 205 CMR 146.49, the dealer 
shall, as applicable, comply with the requirements of 205 CMR 146.49 and (b) through (d) 
below. 

 
(b) If the deck of cards used by the gaming licensee contains two jokers, the dealer and a casino 

supervisor shall ensure that only one joker is utilized, and that the other joker is removed 
from play. Following the inspection of the cards by the dealer and the verification by the 
floorperson assigned to the table, the cards shall be spread out face up on the table for visual 
inspection by the first player to arrive at the table. The cards shall be spread out according to 
suit and in sequence and shall include one joker. 

 
(c) After the first player is afforded an opportunity to visually inspect the cards, the cards shall 

be turned face down on the table, mixed thoroughly by a "washing" or "chemmy shuffle" of 
the cards and stacked. Once the cards have been stacked, they shall be shuffled in 
accordance with Section 6. 

 
(d) If a gaming licensee uses an automated card shuffling device to play the game of pai gow 

poker and two decks of cards are received at the table pursuant to 205 CMR 146.49 and 
Section 2, each deck of cards shall be separately sorted, inspected, verified, spread, 
inspected, mixed, stacked and shuffled in accordance with the provisions of (a) through (c) 
above immediately prior to the commencement of play. 

 
6. Shuffle and cut of the cards 

 

(a) Immediately prior to the commencement of play, and after each round of play has been 
completed, the dealer shall shuffle the cards by use of an automated card shuffling device so 
that the cards are randomly intermixed. Upon completion of the shuffle, the dealer or device 
shall place the deck of cards in a single stack; provided, however, that nothing herein shall be 
deemed to prohibit an automated card shuffling device which, upon completion of the 
shuffling of the cards, inserts the cards directly into an automated or manual dealing shoe. 
The automated shuffler may also be advanced and programed to deal the appropriate number 
of cards during each round of play to each gaming position. 

 
(b) After the cards have been shuffled and stacked, the dealer shall use an automated card 

shuffling device, deal or deliver the cards in accordance with the procedures set forth in 



Sections 8 or 8a. 
 

(c) If a cut of the cards is offered it will be done so in the following order: 
(1) The first player to the table, if the game is just beginning; 
(2) The player who accepts the bank pursuant to Section 10; provided, however, if the bank 

refuses the cut, the cards shall be offered to each player moving counterclockwise around 
the table from the bank until a player accepts the cut; or 

(3) The player at the farthest position to the right of the dealer, if there is no bank during a 
round of play; provided, however, if there are two or more consecutive rounds of play 
where there is no bank, the offer to cut the cards shall rotate in a counterclockwise 
manner after the player to the far right of the dealer has been offered the cut. 

 
(d) The player or dealer making the cut shall place the cutting card in the stack at least 10 cards 

in from either end. Once the cutting card has been inserted, the dealer shall take the cutting 
card and all the cards on top of the cutting card and place them on the bottom of the stack. 
The dealer shall then remove the cover card and place it on the bottom of the stack. 
Thereafter, the dealer shall remove the cutting card and, at the discretion of the gaming 
licensee, either place it in the discard rack or use it as an additional cutting card to be inserted 
four cards from the bottom of the deck. The dealer shall then deal or deliver the cards in 
accordance with the procedures set forth in Sections 8 or 8a. 

 
(e) After the cards have been cut and before any cards have been dealt, a casino supervisor may 

require the cards to be recut if he or she determines that the cut was performed improperly or 
in any way that might affect the integrity or fairness of the game. If a recut is required, the 
cards shall be recut, at the gaming licensee's option, by the player who last cut the cards, or 
by the next person entitled to cut the cards, as determined by sections (c) and (d) above. 

 
(f) Whenever there is no gaming activity at a pai gow poker table which is open for gaming, the 

cards shall be spread out on the table. After the first player is afforded an opportunity to 
visually inspect the cards, the procedures outlined in Section 5(c) shall be completed. 

 
7. Wagers 

 

(a) All wagers at pai gow poker shall be made by placing gaming chips or plaques and, if 
applicable, a match play coupon on the appropriate betting area of the pai gow poker layout. 
A verbal wager accompanied by cash shall not be accepted at the game of pai gow poker. 

 
(b) Only players who are seated at the pai gow poker table may place a wager at the game. Once 

a player has placed a wager and received cards, that player must remain seated until the 
completion of the round of play. 

 
(c) All wagers at pai gow poker shall be placed prior to the dealer announcing "No more bets" in 

accordance with the dealing procedures set forth in Sections 8 or 8a. No wager at pai gow 
poker shall be made, increased or withdrawn after the dealer has announced "No more bets." 

 
(d) Upon placing a pai gow poker wager, a player may, if a progressive payout wager is offered 



by the gaming licensee pursuant to the provisions of Section 14, place a progressive payout 
wager by depositing a gaming chip into the acceptor device designated for that player or by 
redeeming a progressive payout wager coupon in accordance with the provisions of 205 
CMR 146.09. Each player shall be responsible for verifying that the acceptor light for their 
betting position has been properly illuminated upon placement of the progressive payout 
wager. 

 
(e) A licensee may, if specified in its Rules submission, offer to each player who placed a pai 

gow poker wager, in accordance with (d) above, the option of placing the following 
additional wagers: 

 
(1) A Fortune Bonus Wager that the seven cards dealt to the player will form a seven-card 

poker hand with a rank of a straight or better as described in Section 3(f) 20 (relating to 
pai  gow poker rankings).  

(2) An Emperor's Treasure Wager that the seven cards dealt to the player will form a seven- 
card poker hand with a rank of a straight or better as described in Section 3(e). 

(3) A pai gow insurance wager that the seven cards dealt to the player will form a seven-card 
poker hand that does not contain a pair or better, as described in Section 3(b), but will 
contain a card ranked a nine-high or better. 

(4) A Progressive Payout Wager that the seven cards dealt to the player will form a seven- 
card poker hand with a rank of a full house or better as described in Section 3(f). 

(5) If EZ Pai Gow poker is being played, a licensee may offer the following additional 
wagers: 
(i) The Queen's Dragon Wager that the dealer's hand will create a Queen's Dragon. 
(ii) The Dynasty Bonus Wager that the seven cards dealt to the player will form a hand 

with a rank of a three-of-a-kind or better as described in Section 3(b) and (g). 
(iii) The Protection Wager that the seven cards dealt to the player will form a hand that 

does not contain a pair or better, as described in Section 3(b), but contain a high card 
of a 9, 10, jack, queen, king or ace. 

(iv) The Red/Black Wager that four or more of the cards in the player's hand will be of 
the player's chosen color. 

 
(f) If a gaming licensee offers the optional bonus wagers authorized by Section 17, upon placing 

a pai gow poker wager and prior to any cards being dealt for the round of play, a player may 
place a three-card bonus wager and/or a seven-card bonus wager. 

 
 

8. Procedures for dealing the cards from a manual dealing shoe 
 

(a) If a gaming licensee chooses to have the cards dealt from a manual dealing shoe, the dealing 
shoe shall meet the requirements of 205 CMR 146.51. Once the procedures required by 
Section 6 have been completed, the cards shall be placed in the manual dealing shoe and the 
dealer shall announce "No more bets." 

 
(b) The dealer shall then, using one of the procedures authorized by Section 8a, determine the 

starting position for dealing the cards.  If the gaming licensee offers the additional wager 



authorized by Section 13, all such additional wagers shall be determined and paid and the 
procedures in Section 13 shall be completed, before any card is dealt to any player at the 
table. 

 
(c) After the starting position for dealing the cards has been determined, each card shall be 

removed from the dealing shoe with the left hand of the dealer and placed face down on the 
appropriate area of the layout with the right hand of the dealer. The dealer shall deal the first 
card to the starting position as determined in (b) above and, moving clockwise around the 
table, deal a card to all other positions, including the dealer, regardless of whether there is a 
wager at the position. The dealer shall then return to the starting position and deal a second 
card in a clockwise rotation and shall continue dealing until each position, including the 
dealer, has seven cards. 

 
(d) After seven cards have been dealt to each position, including the dealer, the dealer shall 

remove the remaining cards from the shoe and determine whether exactly four cards are left. 
(1) If four cards remain, the four cards shall not be exposed to anyone and shall be 

placed in the discard rack. The dealer shall then collect any cards dealt to a 
position where there is no wager and place them in the discard rack without 
exposing the cards. 

(2) If more or less than four cards remain, the dealer shall determine if the cards were 
misdealt. If the cards were misdealt and a player or the dealer has more or less 
than seven cards, all hands shall be void pursuant to Section 11. If the cards have 
not been misdealt, all hands shall be considered void and the entire deck of cards 
shall be removed from the table pursuant to 205 CMR 146.49. 

 
8a. Procedures for dealing the cards from an automated dealing shoe 

 

(a) Notwithstanding any other provision of 205 CMR 146 or this section, a gaming licensee may, 
in its discretion, choose to have the cards used to play pai gow poker dealt from an automated 
dealing shoe which dispenses cards in stacks of seven cards, provided that the shoe, its 
location and the procedures for its use are approved by the Commission. 

 
(b) If a gaming licensee chooses to have the cards dealt from an automated dealing shoe, the 

following requirements shall be observed. 
(1) Once the procedures required by Section 6 have been completed, the cards shall be 

placed in the automated dealing shoe. 
(2) The dealer shall then announce "No more bets" prior to the shoe dispensing any stacks of 

cards. 
 

(c) The dealer shall then, using one of the procedures authorized by Section 8b, determine the 
starting position for delivering the stacks of cards. If the gaming licensee offers the 
additional wager authorized by Section 13, all such additional wagers shall be determined 
and paid and the procedures in Section 13 shall be completed, before any stack of cards is 
dealt to any player at the table. 

 
(d) Once the starting position has been determined in accordance with (c) above, the dealer shall 



deliver the first stack of cards dispensed by the automated dealing shoe to that position. As 
the remaining stacks are dispensed to the dealer by the automated dealing shoe/machine, the 
dealer shall deliver a stack in turn to each of the other positions, including the dealer, moving 
clockwise around the table, whether or not there is a wager at the position. The dealer shall 
deliver each stack face down. 

 
(e) After the seven stacks of seven cards have been dispensed and delivered to each position, 

including the dealer, the dealer shall remove the remaining cards from the shoe/machine and 
determine whether exactly four cards are left by spreading them face down on the layout. 
(1) If four cards remain, the cards shall not be exposed to anyone at the table and shall be 

placed in the discard rack. 
(2) If more or less than four cards remain, the dealer shall determine if the cards were 

misdealt. If the cards were misdealt and a stack has more or less than seven cards, the 
round of play shall be void and the cards reshuffled. If the cards have not been misdealt, 
the round of play shall be considered void and the entire deck of cards shall be removed 
from the table pursuant to 205 CMR 146.49. 

 
(f) If the dealer determines the cards were dealt properly, the dealer shall then collect any stacks 

dealt to a position where there is no wager and place them in the discard rack without 
exposing the cards. 

 
8b. Procedure for determining the starting position for dealing cards or delivering stacks 
of cards 

 

(a) In order to determine the starting position for the dealing of cards or the delivery of stacks of 
cards for the game of pai gow poker, a gaming licensee may, in its discretion, use the 
procedure authorized in (b), (c) or (d) below. 

 
(b) The dealer shall shake the pai gow poker shaker and dice described in Section 4 at least three 

times so as to cause a random mixture of the dice. 
(1) The dealer shall then remove the lid covering the pai gow poker shaker, total the dice and 

announce the total. 
(2) To determine the starting position, the dealer shall count counterclockwise around the 

table, with the position of the dealer considered number one, and continuing around the 
table with each betting position counted in order, including the dealer, regardless of 
whether there is a wager at the position, until the count matches the total of the three dice. 

(3) Examples are as follows: 
(i) If the dice total 8, the dealer would receive the first card or stack of cards; or 
(ii) If the dice total 14, the sixth betting position would receive the first card or stack of 

cards. 
(4) After the dealing or delivery of the cards has been completed in accordance with the 

procedures set forth in Section 8 or 8a, the dealer shall place the cover on the pai gow 
poker shaker and shake the shaker once. The pai gow poker shaker shall then be placed 
to the right of the dealer. 

 
(c) The dealer may use a computerized random number generator approved by the Commission 



to select and display a number from 1 through 7 inclusive, and verbally announce the 
number. To determine the starting position, the dealer shall count counterclockwise around 
the table, with the position of the dealer considered number one, and continuing around the 
table with each betting position counted in order, including the dealer, regardless of whether 
there is a wager at the position, until the count matches the number displayed by the random 
number generator. 

 
(d) If an automated card shuffling device and dealing shoe/machine is used pursuant to Section 

8a, the dealer may use a flat disk button approved by the Commission to indicate the starting 
position. At the commencement of play, the button shall be placed in front of the dealer. 
Thereafter, the button shall rotate around the table in a clockwise manner after each round of 
play. 

 
(e) After the starting position for a round of play has been determined, a gaming licensee may, in 

its discretion, mark that position by the use of an additional cut card or similar object. 
 

9. Procedures for completion of each round of play; setting of hands; payment and 
collection of wagers; payout odds; vigorish 

 

(a) After the dealing of the cards has been completed, each player shall set their hands by 
arranging the cards into a high hand and low hand. When setting the two hands, the five-card 
high hand must be equal to or higher in rank than the two card low hand. For example, if the 
two-card hand contains a pair of sevens, the five card hand must contain at least a pair of 
sevens and the three remaining cards. 

 
(b) Each player at the table shall be responsible for setting their own hands and no other person 

except the dealer may touch the cards of that player. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a 
player requests assistance in the setting of their hands, the dealer may inform the requesting 
player of the manner in which the gaming licensee requires the hands of the dealer to be set 
in its Rules of the Games submission. Each player shall be required to keep the seven cards 
in full view of the dealer at all times. Once each player has set a high and low hand and 
placed the two hands face down on the appropriate area of the layout, the player shall not 
touch the cards again. 

 
(c) After all players have set their hands and placed the cards on the table, the seven cards of the 

dealer shall be turned over and the dealer shall set their hands by arranging the cards into a 
high and low hand.  The dealer shall then place the two hands face up on the appropriate area 
of the layout. If banking or co-banking is in effect pursuant to Section 10, after all players 
have set their hands and placed the cards on the table, the player banking the game shall turn 
over their seven cards and shall set the two hands by arranging the cards in a high and low 
hand on the appropriate area of the layout. 

 
(d) Each gaming licensee shall submit to the Commission in its Rules of the Games submission 

the manner in which it will require the hands of the dealer to be set. 
 

(e) Unless a player has placed a progressive payout wager pursuant to Section (l)(4) or a seven- 



card bonus wager pursuant to Section 17, a player may announce that he or she wishes to 
surrender their wager prior to the dealer exposing either of the two hands of that player 
pursuant to (f) below. Once the player has announced their intention to surrender, the dealer 
shall: 
(1) Immediately collect the wager from that player; and 
(2) Collect the seven cards dealt to that player without exposing the cards to anyone at the 

table. The dealer shall verify that seven cards were collected by counting them face 
down on the layout prior to placing them in the discard rack. 

 
(f) Once the dealer has set a high hand and a low hand, the dealer shall expose both hands of 

each player, starting from the right and proceeding counterclockwise around the table. The 
dealer shall compare the high and low hand of each player to the high and low hand of the 
dealer and shall announce if the pai gow poker wager of that player shall win, lose or be 
considered a tie (“push”). If the player has placed a progressive payout wager pursuant to 
Section 14, the dealer shall also examine the seven cards of the player and announce if the 
progressive payout wager of that player shall win or lose. If the player has placed a seven- 
card bonus wager pursuant to Section 17, the dealer shall also examine the seven cards of the 
player and announce if the seven-card bonus wager of that player shall win or lose. 

 
(g) All losing pai gow poker wagers, seven-card bonus wagers and progressive payout wagers 

shall be immediately collected by the dealer and put in the table inventory container. Unless 
the player has a winning progressive payout wager or winning seven-card bonus wager, all 
losing pai gow poker hands shall also be collected. A pai gow poker wager will: 
(1) Lose and will immediately be collected if: 

(i) The high hand of the player is lower in rank than the high hand of the dealer and the 
low hand of the player is lower in rank than the low hand of the dealer. 

(ii) The high hand of the player is identical in rank to the high hand of the dealer or the 
low hand of the player is identical in rank to the low hand of the dealer and the other 
hand of the player is identical in rank or lower in rank than the other hand of the 
dealer. 

(iii) The high hand of the player was not set so as to rank equal to or higher than the low 
hand of that player. 

(iv) The two hands of the player were not otherwise set correctly in accordance with this 
chapter. 

(v) Notwithstanding subparagraphs (i)—(iv) above, if the table is designated for play as 
an EZ Pai Gow poker table in which vigorish is not collected and if the dealer has a 
Queen's Dragon, the player's pai gow poker wager shall push and be returned to the 
player. 

(2) Tie and will be returned to the player if: 
(i) The high hand of the player is higher in rank than the high hand of the dealer, but the 

low hand of the player is identical in rank to the low hand of the dealer or lower in 
rank than the low hand of the dealer. 

(ii) The high hand of the player is identical in rank to the high hand of the dealer or lower 
in rank than the high hand of the dealer, but the low hand of the player is higher in 
rank than the low hand of the dealer. 

(iii) The dealer has a Queen's Dragon and the table is designated for play as an EZ Pai 



Gow poker table in which vigorish is not collected. 
(3) Win if the high hand of the player is higher in rank than the high hand of the dealer and 

the low hand of the player is higher in rank than the low hand of the dealer provided that 
if the table is designated for play as an EZ Pai Gow poker table and the dealer has a 
Queen's Dragon, the player's pai gow poker wager shall push and be returned to the 
player. The dealer shall pay the winning pai gow poker wager in accordance with the 
payout odds in Section 16(a) (relating to payout odds; Envy Bonus; rate of progression; 
payout limitation). 

 
(h) All cards collected by the dealer shall be picked up in order and placed in the discard rack in 

such a way that they can be readily arranged to reconstruct each hand in case of a question or 
dispute. 

 
(i) If a player has won a progressive payout wager that is not being paid from the table inventory 

container, the cards of that player shall remain on the table until the necessary documentation 
has been completed pursuant to 205 CMR 138.62. If any player at the table has placed a 
Qualifying Wager, the dealer shall rearrange the cards of all players regardless of whether the 
player placed a Fortune Bonus, Emperor's Treasure or Dynasty Bonus Wager. After 
rearranging the player's seven cards, the dealer shall: 
(1) Settle the player's Fortune Bonus Wager as follows: 

(i) If a player: 
a. Does not have a straight or higher, as described in Section 3(d) 20 (relating to 

pai gow poker rankings), the dealer shall collect the Fortune Bonus Wager and 
place   the cards of the player in the discard rack. 

b. Has a straight or higher, the dealer shall pay the winning Fortune Bonus Wager in 
accordance with Section 16(b) and shall place the cards of the player in the 
discard rack. If the player has an Envy bonus qualifying hand and any player at 
the table placed a Qualifying Wager, the dealer shall verbally acknowledge the 
Envy bonus qualifying hand and leave the cards of the player face up on the table. 

c. Did not place a Fortune Bonus Wager but has an envy bonus qualifying hand, and 
another player at the table placed a qualifying wager, the dealer shall verbally 
acknowledge the envy bonus qualifying hand and leave the cards of the player 
face up on the table. 

(ii) After all Fortune Bonus Wagers have been settled, if any player is the holder of an 
envy bonus qualifying hand, the dealer shall pay an envy bonus in accordance with 
Section 16(b) to each player who has an envy lammer at the player's betting position. 
Players are entitled to multiple envy bonuses when another player at the same pai 
gow poker table is the holder of an envy bonus qualifying hand. A player is not 
entitled to an envy bonus for his own hand or the hand of the dealer. 

(iii) After all envy bonuses have been paid, the dealer shall collect all remaining cards and 
place them in the discard rack. 

(2) Settle the player's Emperor's Treasure Wager as follows: 
(i) If a player: 

a. Does not have a straight or higher as described in Section 3(e), the dealer shall 
collect the Emperor's Treasure Wager and place the cards of the player in the 
discard rack. 



b. Has a straight or higher, the dealer shall pay the winning Emperor's Treasure 
Wager in accordance with Section 16(c) and place the cards of the player in the 
discard rack. If the player has an Envy bonus qualifying hand and any player at 
the table placed a qualifying wager, the dealer shall verbally acknowledge the 
Envy bonus qualifying hand and leave the cards of the player face up on the table. 

c. Did not place an Emperor's Treasure Wager but has an Envy bonus qualifying 
hand and another player at the table placed a qualifying wager, the dealer shall 
verbally acknowledge the envy bonus qualifying hand and leave the cards of the 
player face up on the table. 

(ii) After all Emperor's Treasure Wagers have been settled, if any player is the holder of 
an envy bonus qualifying hand, the dealer shall pay an envy bonus in accordance with 
Section 16(c) to each player who has an envy lammer at the player's betting position. 
players are entitled to multiple envy bonuses when another player at the same pai gow 
poker table is the holder of an envy bonus qualifying hand. A player is not entitled to 
an envy bonus for his own hand or the hand of the dealer. 

(iii) After all envy bonuses have been paid, the dealer shall collect all remaining cards and 
place them in the discard rack. 

(3) Settle the player's pai gow insurance wager. If a player: 
(i) Has a pair or better as described in Section 3(ii), the dealer shall collect the pai gow 

insurance wager and place the cards of the player in the discard rack. 
(ii) Does not have a pair or better, but has a card ranked a nine-high or better, the dealer 

shall pay the winning pai gow insurance wager in accordance with Section 16(d). The 
dealer shall then place the cards of the player in the discard rack. 

(4) Settle the player's Progressive Payout Wager. If a player: 
(i) Does not have a full house or better, as described in Section 3(f), the dealer shall 

collect the Progressive Payout Wager and place the cards of the player in the discard 
rack. 

(ii) Has a full house or better, the dealer shall: 
a. Verify that the hand is a winning hand. 
b. Verify that the appropriate light on the progressive table game system has been 

illuminated. 
c. Have a floorperson or above validate the progressive payout in accordance with 

the licensee's approved internal control procedures. 
d. Pay the winning Progressive Payout Wager in accordance with the payout odds in 

Section 16(e). If a player has won a progressive payout that is a percentage of the 
progressive meter, the progressive payout may not be paid from the table 
inventory container. If a player has won a progressive payout that is not being 
paid from the table inventory, the cards of that player shall remain on the table 
until the necessary documentation has been completed. 

(5) Settle the player's Queen's Dragon Wager. If the dealer does not have Queen's Dragon, 
the dealer shall collect the Queen's Dragon Wager and place the cards of the player in the 
discard rack. If the dealer has a Queen's Dragon, the dealer shall pay the winning wager 
in accordance with Section 16(f). 

(6) Settle the player's Dynasty Bonus Wager as follows: 
(i) If a player: 

a. Does not have a three-of-a-kind or better as described in Section 3(b) and (g), the 



dealer shall collect the Dynasty Wager and place the cards of the player in the 
discard rack. 

b. Has a three-of-a-kind or better, the dealer shall pay the winning Dynasty Wager in 
accordance with Section 16(g). If the player has an envy bonus qualifying hand 
and any player at the table placed a qualifying wager, the dealer shall verbally 
acknowledge the Envy bonus qualifying hand and leave the cards of the player 
face up on the table. 

c. Did not place a Dynasty Wager but has an envy bonus qualifying hand and 
another player at the table placed a qualifying wager, the dealer shall verbally 
acknowledge the envy bonus qualifying hand and leave the cards of the player 
face up on the table. 

(ii) After all Dynasty Bonus Wagers have been settled, if any player is the holder of an 
Envy bonus qualifying hand, the dealer shall pay an Envy Bonus in accordance with 
Section 16(g) to each player who has an envy lammer at the player's betting position. 
Players are entitled to multiple envy bonuses when another player at the same pai 
gow poker table is the holder of an envy bonus qualifying hand. A player is not 
entitled to an envy bonus for his own hand or the hand of the dealer. 

(7) Settle the player's Protection Wager. If the player's hand does not contain a high card of a 
9, 10, jack, queen, king or ace, or the hand contains a pair or better, as described in 
Section 3(b), the dealer shall collect the Protection Wager and place the cards of the 
player in the discard rack. If the player's hand does not contain a pair or better but 
contains a high card of a 9, 10, jack, queen, king or ace, the dealer shall pay the winning 
wager in accordance with Section 16(h). 

(8) Settle the player's Red/Black Wager. If the player wagered on red and the player's hand 
does not contain four or more red cards, or if the player wagered on black and the player's 
hand does not contain four or more black cards, the dealer shall collect the Red/Black 
Wager and place the cards of the player in the discard rack. If a player's hand does 
contain four or more of the cards of the player's chosen color, the dealer shall pay the 
winning Red/Black Wager in accordance with Section 16(i). 
(i) Notwithstanding the requirements in subsection (h) above, if the licensee offers more 

than one optional wager, the dealer shall settle all of the player's optional wagers 
before placing the player's cards in the discard rack. 

 
 

10. Player bank; co-banking; selection of bank; procedures for dealing 
 

(a) A gaming licensee may, in its discretion, offer to all players at a pai gow poker table the 
opportunity to bank the game. If the gaming licensee elects this option, all the other 
provisions of this section shall apply except to the extent that they conflict with the 
provisions of this section, in which case the provisions of this section shall control for any 
round of play in which a player is the bank. 

 
(b) A player may not be the bank at the start of the game. For the purposes of this section, the 

start of the game shall mean the first round of play after the dealer is required to shuffle the 
cards in accordance with the procedures set forth in Section 5(c). 



(c) After the first round of play pursuant to (b) above, each player at the table shall have the 
option to either be the bank or pass the bank to the next player. The dealer shall, starting 
with the player farthest to the right of the dealer, offer the bank to each player in a 
counterclockwise rotation around the table until a player accepts the bank. The dealer shall 
place a marker designating the bank in front of the player who accepts the bank. If the first 
player offered the bank accepts, the player seated to the right of that player shall first be 
offered the bank on the next round of play. The initial offer to be the bank shall rotate 
counterclockwise around the table until it returns to the dealer. In no event may any player 
bank two consecutive rounds of play. If no player wishes to be the bank, the round of play 
shall proceed in accordance with the rules of play provided in this section. 

 
(d) Before a player may be permitted to bank a round of play, the dealer shall determine that: 

(1) The player placed a wager against the dealer during the last round of play in which there 
was no player banking the game; and 

(2) The player has sufficient gaming chips on the table to cover all of the wagers placed by 
other players at the table for that round of play. 

 
(e) A gaming licensee may, in its discretion, offer the bank the option of having the casino cover 

50 percent of the wagers made during a round of play. If the gaming licensee offers this 
option, it shall make it available to all players at the table. If the bank wishes to use this 
option, the bank must specifically request the dealer to accept responsibility for the payment 
of one-half of all winning wagers. When the bank covers 50 percent and the casino covers 
50 percent of the winning wagers, it shall be known as "co-banking" and the dealer shall 
place a marker designating the co-bank in front of that player. When the dealer is co- 
banking, the dealer shall be responsible for setting the hand of the bank in the manner 
submitted to the Commission pursuant to Section 9. When co-banking is in effect, the dealer 
may not place a wager against the bank. 

 
(f) If a player is the bank, the player may only wager on one betting area. 

 
(g) Once the dealer has determined that a player may be the bank pursuant to (d) above and after 

the cards have been shuffled, the dealer shall remove gaming chips from the table inventory 
container in an amount equal to the last wager made by that player against the dealer or in an 
amount, the calculation of which has been approved by the Commission. This amount shall 
be the amount the dealer wagers against the bank. The bank may direct that the sum wagered 
by the dealer be a lesser amount or that the dealer place no wager during that round of play. 
Any amount wagered by the dealer shall be placed in front of the table inventory container. 

 
(h) If the cards are to be dealt from a manual dealing shoe, the procedures set forth in Sections 8 

and 8c shall apply, except as follows: 
(1) If a pai gow poker shaker and dice are being used to determine the starting position for 

the dealing of the cards, the bank shall shake the pai gow poker shaker three times 
pursuant to Section 8c(b) instead of the dealer. It shall be the responsibility of the dealer 
to ensure that the bank shakes the pai gow poker shaker at least three times so as to cause 
a random mixture of the dice. Once the bank has completed shaking the pai gow poker 
shaker, the dealer shall remove the lid covering the pai gow poker shaker, total the dice 



and announce the total. The dealer shall always remove the lid from the pai gow poker 
shaker and if the bank inadvertently removes the lid, the dealer shall require the pai gow 
poker shaker to be covered and reshaken by the bank. 

(2) If a computerized random number generator is used to determine the starting position for 
the dealing of the cards, the device shall be operated in accordance with procedures 
approved by the Commission. 

(3) When counting the betting positions, including the dealer, to determine the starting 
position for dealing the cards, the position of the banker, instead of the dealer, shall be 
considered number one. 

 
(i) If the cards are to be dealt from the hand, the procedures set forth in Section 8a and 8c shall 

apply, except as follows: 
(1) Once the dealer has completed dealing the seven stacks and placed the four remaining 

cards in the discard rack pursuant to Section 8a, the bank shall select the first stack to be 
delivered by the dealer. This stack shall be designated as the first stack by the dealer 
moving it toward the players. 

(2) If a pai gow poker shaker and dice are being used to determine the starting position for 
the delivery of the first stack, the bank shall shake the pai gow poker shaker three times 
pursuant to Section 8c(b) instead of the dealer. It shall be the responsibility of the dealer 
to ensure that the bank shakes the pai gow poker shaker at least three times so as to cause 
a random mixture of the dice. Once the bank has completed shaking the pai gow poker 
shaker, the dealer shall remove the lid covering the pai gow poker shaker, total the dice 
and announce the total. The dealer shall always remove the lid from the pai gow poker 
shaker and if the bank inadvertently removes the lid, the dealer shall require the pai gow 
poker shaker to be covered and reshaken by the bank. 

(3) If a computerized random number generator is used to determine the starting position for 
the delivery of the first stack, the device shall be operated in accordance with procedures 
approved by the Commission. 

(4) When counting the betting positions, including the dealer, to determine the starting 
position for delivering the seven stacks of cards, the position of the bank, instead of the 
dealer, shall be considered number one. 

(5) The dealer shall deliver the first stack as determined in (i)(1) above to the starting 
position as determined in Section 8b and (i)(2) through (4) above. Thereafter, the dealer 
shall deliver the remaining stacks in a clockwise rotation beginning with the stack closest 
to the right of the first stack and proceeding until all stacks to the right of the first stack 
have been dealt and then moving to the stack farthest to the left of the dealer and 
proceeding left to right. If there are no stacks to the right of the first stack, the dealer will 
begin with the stack farthest to the left and proceed to the right. The dealer shall deliver 
each stack face down to each position, including the dealer, regardless of whether there is 
a wager at the position. 

 
(j) If the cards are to be dealt from an automated dealing shoe, the procedures set forth in 

Sections 8a and 8b shall apply, except as follows: 
(1) If a pai gow poker shaker and dice are being used to determine the starting position for 

the delivery of the first stack of cards dispensed by the automated dealing shoe, the bank 
shall shake the pai gow poker shaker three times pursuant to Section 8b(b) instead of the 



dealer. It shall be the responsibility of the dealer to ensure that the bank shakes the pai 
gow poker shaker at least three times so as to cause a random mixture of the dice. Once 
the bank has completed shaking the pai gow poker shaker, the dealer shall remove the lid 
covering the pai gow poker shaker, total the dice and announce the total. The dealer shall 
always remove the lid from the pai gow poker shaker and if the bank inadvertently 
removes the lid, the dealer shall require the pai gow poker shaker to be covered and 
reshaken by the bank. 

(2) If a computerized random number generator is used to determine the starting position, the 
device shall be operated in accordance with procedures approved by the Commission. 

(3) When counting the betting positions, including the dealer, to determine the starting 
position for delivering the stacks of cards as they are dispensed by the shoe, the position 
of the bank, instead of the dealer shall be considered number one. 

 
(k) If the cards dealt to the dealer have not been previously collected, after each player has set 

their two hands and placed them on the appropriate area of the layout, the two hands of the 
dealer shall then be set. Once the dealer has formed a high and low hand, the dealer shall 
expose the hands of the bank and determine if the hands of the dealer are higher in rank than 
the hands of the bank. If the dealer wins, the cards of the dealer shall be stacked face up to 
the right of the table inventory container with the amount wagered by the dealer against the 
bank placed on top. If the dealer pushes, the dealer shall return the amount wagered by the 
dealer against the bank to the table inventory container. If the dealer loses, the amount 
wagered by the dealer against the bank shall be moved to the center of the layout. 

 
(l) If banking is in effect, once the dealer has determined the outcome of the wager of the dealer 

against the bank, if any, the dealer shall expose the hands of each player starting with the 
player farthest to the right of the dealer and proceeding counterclockwise around the table. 
The dealer shall compare the high and low hand of each player to the high and low hand of 
the bank and shall announce if the wager shall win, lose or be considered a push against the 
bank. All losing wagers shall be immediately collected and placed in the center of the table. 
After all hands have been exposed, all winning wagers, including the dealer's wager, shall be 
paid by the dealer with the gaming chips located in the center of the table. If this amount 
becomes exhausted before all winning wagers have been paid, the dealer shall collect from 
the bank, an amount equal to the remaining winning wagers and place that amount in the 
center of the layout. The remaining winning wagers shall be paid from the amount in the 
center of the layout. If, after collecting all losing wagers and paying all winning wagers, 
there is a surplus in the center of the table, this amount shall be charged a 5 percent vigorish 
in accordance with Section 9. Once the vigorish has been paid, the remaining amount shall 
be given to the bank. 

 
(m) If co-banking is in effect, once the dealer has set the co-bank hand pursuant to paragraph (e) 

above, the dealer shall expose the hands of each player starting with the player farthest to the 
right of the dealer and proceeding counterclockwise around the table. The dealer shall 
compare the high and low hand of each player to the high and low hand of the bank and shall 
announce if the wager shall win, lose or be considered a push against the bank. All losing 
wagers shall be immediately collected and placed in the center of the table. After all hands 
have been exposed, all winning wagers shall be paid by the dealer with the gaming chips 



located in the center of the table. If this amount becomes exhausted before all winning 
wagers have been paid, the dealer shall collect from the co-bank, an amount equal to one-half 
of the remaining winning wagers and place that amount in the center of the layout. The 
dealer shall remove an amount equal to one-half of the remaining winning wagers from the 
table inventory container and place that amount in the center of the layout. The remaining 
winning wagers shall be paid from the total amount in the center of the layout. If, after 
collecting all losing wagers and paying all winning wagers, there is a surplus in the center of 
the table, this amount will be counted and the dealer shall place half of this amount into the 
table inventory container. The dealer shall collect a 5 percent vigorish in accordance with 
Section 9 on the remaining amount and place the vigorish amount in the table inventory 
container. The remaining amount shall then be given to the co-bank. 

 
(n) Immediately after a winning wager of the dealer is paid, this amount and the original wager 

shall be returned to the table inventory container. 
 

(o) Each player who has a winning wager against the bank shall pay a five percent vigorish on 
the amount won to the dealer, in accordance with Section 9. 

 
(p) If a gaming licensee offers the progressive payout wager pursuant to Section 14 or the 

optional bonus wagers pursuant to Section 17, the processing and resolution of such wagers 
shall be governed by the rules applicable to such wagers throughout this section. 

 
11. Irregularities; invalid roll of dice 

 

(a) If the dealer uncovers the pai gow poker shaker and all three dice do not land flat on the 
bottom of the shaker, the dealer shall call a "No roll" and reshake the dice. 

 
(b) If the dealer uncovers the pai gow poker shaker and a die or dice fall out of the shaker, the 

dealer shall call a "No roll" and reshake the dice. 
 

(c) If the dealer incorrectly totals the dice and deals the first card or delivers the first stack to the 
wrong position, all hands shall be called dead and the dealer shall reshuffle the cards. 

 
(d) If the dealer exposes any of the cards dealt to a player, the player has the option of voiding 

the hand. Without looking at the unexposed cards, the player shall make the decision either 
to play out the hand or to void the hand. 

 
(e) If a card or cards in the hand of the dealer or bank is exposed, all hands shall be void and the 

cards shall be reshuffled. 
 

(f) A card found turned face up in the shoe shall not be used in the game and shall be placed in 
the discard rack. If more than one card is found turned face up in the shoe, all hands shall be 
void and the cards shall be reshuffled. 

 
(g) A card drawn in error without its face being exposed shall be used as though it was the next 

card from the shoe. 



 

(h) If any player or the dealer is dealt an incorrect number of cards, all hands shall be void and 
the cards reshuffled. 

 
(i) If the dealer does not set their hands in the manner submitted to the Commission pursuant to 

Section 9, the hands must be reset in accordance with this submission and the round of play 
completed. 

 
(j) If the bank does not set their own hands correctly, the wager shall not be lost pursuant to 

Section 9, and the dealer shall be required to reset the bank's hands in the manner submitted 
to the Commission pursuant to Section 9 so that the round of play may be completed. 

 
(k) If a card is exposed while the dealer is dealing the seven stacks in accordance with Section 

8a, the cards shall be reshuffled. 
 

(l) If an automated card shuffling device is being used and the device jams, stops shuffling 
during a shuffle, or fails to complete a shuffle cycle, the cards shall be reshuffled in 
accordance with procedures approved by the Commission. 

 
(m) If an automated dealing shoe/machine is being used and the device jams, stops dealing cards, 

or fails to deal all cards during a round of play, the round of play shall be void, and the cards 
shall be removed from the device and reshuffled with any cards already dealt, in accordance 
with procedures approved by the Commission. 

 
12. A player wagering on more than one betting area 

 

(a) Except as provided in Section 10(f), a gaming licensee may, in its discretion, permit a player 
to wager on no more than two betting areas at a pai gow poker table, which areas must be 
adjacent to each other. 

 
(b) If a gaming licensee permits a player to wager on two adjacent betting areas, the cards dealt 

to each betting area shall be played separately. If the two wagers are not equal, the player 
shall be required to rank and set the hand with the larger wager before ranking and setting the 
other hand. If the amounts wagered are equal, each hand shall be played separately in a 
counterclockwise rotation with the first hand being ranked and set before the player proceeds 
to rank and set the second hand. Once a hand has been ranked and set and placed face down 
on the appropriate area of the layout, the hand may not be changed. 

 
13. Permissible additional wager 

 

(a) If a gaming licensee, pursuant to Section 8c, uses a random number generator to determine 
the starting position for the dealing of cards or the delivery of stacks of cards, the gaming 
licensee may in its discretion offer to every player at the pai gow poker table the option to 
make an additional wager as to which one of the numbers 1 through 7 will be selected and 
displayed by the random number generator at the beginning of a round of play. 



(b) The following procedures shall be observed by any gaming licensee offering the additional 
wager authorized by this section: 
(1) Prior to the activation of the random number generator at the beginning of a round of 

play, any player who has made a pai gow poker wager pursuant to Section 7 may, at the 
same time, make the additional wager authorized by this section. A player may make an 
additional wager on more than one number during each round of play. 

(2) A player shall make an additional wager by placing gaming chips, and if permitted by the 
gaming licensee, a match play coupon, on the number selected by the player in the area 
designated for additional wagers on the pai gow poker table layout. No verbal additional 
wagers or cash additional wagers shall be permitted. 

(3) An additional wager shall win if the number selected by the player in (b)(2) above is the 
same number selected and displayed by the random number generator as the first player 
position to receive cards during that round of pai gow poker. All other additional wagers 
shall lose. 

(4) After the dealer announces "No more bets" and the random number generator selects and 
displays the position number for that round of play, any losing additional wagers shall be 
immediately collected by the dealer. 

(5) Any winning additional wagers shall be paid immediately after collection of any losing 
additional wagers, and prior to any card being dealt to any player at the table. 

(6) A gaming licensee shall pay off winning additional wagers at odds of no less than 5 1/2 
to 1 and no more than 6 to 1, and in accordance with the payout odds imprinted on the pai 
gow poker table layout; provided however, that payouts for any additional winning 
wagers shall be rounded down to the nearest whole dollar. 

 
(c) Any additional wager made pursuant to this section shall have no bearing upon any other 

wager made by a player at the game of pai gow poker. 
 

14. Progressive payout wager 
 

(a) A gaming licensee may, in its discretion, offer to every player at a pai gow poker table who 
has placed a pai gow poker wager the option to make a progressive payout wager on whether 
the player will be dealt a hand type as set forth in (d) below. The progressive payout wager 
shall, in the discretion of the gaming licensee, be either a $1.00 or $5.00 wager. 

 
(b) Prior to the first card or stack of cards of a round being dealt and once all wagers including 

progressive payout wagers have been placed, the dealer shall announce “No more bets” and 
press the lock-out button on the table controller panel. The dealer shall then remove any 
wagers placed on the progressive payout from the table inventory return device, verify, on 
the layout in front of the table inventory container, that the number of gaming chips wagered 
equals the number of lights illuminated on the acceptor devices and place the gaming chips 
into the table inventory container. 

 
(c) A winning progressive payout wager shall be paid in accordance with the payout table listed 

in (d) below and the provisions of Section 9. A winning progressive payout wager shall be 
paid irrespective of the outcome of the player’s pai gow poker wager. Prior to paying a 
winning progressive payout wager, the dealer shall: 



(1) Verify that the light on the correct acceptor device has been illuminated; 
(2) Verify that the hand is a winning hand; and 
(3) Require a casino supervisor to validate any payouts to be deducted from the progressive 

meter pursuant to (e) below and the gaming licensee’s approved internal controls. 
 

(d) A gaming licensee shall pay winning $1.00 and $5.00 progressive payout wagers at no less 
than the amounts listed below: 

 
Hand Type Payout 
Natural Royal Flush and Pair 100 percent of meter 
Five Aces and Pair 100 percent of meter 
Natural Royal Flush 10 percent of meter 
Five Aces 10 percent of meter 
Royal Flush and Pair $200.00 
Royal Flush $100.00 
Straight Flush and Pair $50.00 
Straight Flush $25.00 
Four-of-a-Kind and Pair $40.00 
Four-of-a-Kind $20.00 
Full House and Pair $10.00 
Full House $5.00 
Flush and Pair $6.00 
Flush $3.00 
Straight and Pair $4.00 
Straight $2.00 
Three-of-a-Kind $2.00 



Hand Type Payout 
Natural Royal Flush and Pair 100 percent of meter 
Five Aces and Pair 100 percent of meter 
Natural Royal Flush 10 percent of meter 
Five Aces 10 percent of meter 
Royal Flush and Pair $1,000.00 
Royal Flush $500.00 
Straight Flush and Pair $250.00 
Straight Flush $125.00 
Four-of-a-Kind and Pair $200.00 
Four-of-a-Kind $1,000.00 
Full House and Pair $50.00 
Full House $25.00 
Flush and Pair $30.00 
Flush $15.00 
Straight and Pair $20.00 
Straight $10.00 
Three-of-a-Kind $10.00 

 
 

(e) The rate of progression of the progressive meter used to determine the progressive payouts 
required by (d) above shall be no less than 21percent of the amount wagered for the $1.00 
progressive wager and 27 percent of the amount wagered for the $5.00 progressive wager. 
Any progressive wager payout of $50.00 or more or for a straight flush for a $1.00 
progressive wager, and any progressive wager payout of $250.00 or more or for a straight 
flush for a $5.00 progressive wager, shall be deducted from the progressive meter. 

 
(f) The initial and reset amounts for the progressive meter shall be established by each gaming 

licensee and approved pursuant to 205 CMR 138.62. In no instance shall the initial or reset 
amount on the progressive meter that is funded by the gaming licensee be less than $10,000. 

 
(g) Any payout determined by 205 CMR 138.62 the amount on the progressive meter shall be 

based upon the amount that is on the meter at the time the player’s progressive payout wager 
is paid, irrespective of the amount that was on the meter when the player placed the wager or 
when the dealer dealt the player’s cards. 

 
14.a Fortune Pai Gow Poker Progressive wager 

 

(a) A gaming licensee may, in its discretion, offer to every player at a pai gow poker table who 
has placed a pai gow poker wager the option to make a Fortune Pai Gow progressive wager 
on whether the player will be dealt a hand type as set forth in (d) below. The progressive 
payout wager shall, in the discretion of the gaming licensee, be at a minimum of $5.00 up to 
$200.00. 

Commented [TC2]: This section, including table, has been 
moved to Section 20a. 



(b) Prior to the first card or stack of cards of a round being dealt and once all wagers including 
the Fortune Pai Gow progressive wagers have been placed, the dealer shall announce “No 
more bets” and press the lock-out button on the table controller panel. The Dealer will place 
a specially designed ENVY BUTTON on top of any bonus wager of $5.00 or more. 

 
(c) A winning progressive payout wager shall be paid in accordance with the payout table listed 

in (d) below and the provisions of Section 9. A winning Fortune Pai Gow progressive wager 
shall be paid irrespective of the outcome of the player’s pai gow poker wager. If a Fortune 
Bonus wager has been placed, the Dealer will act on the bonus wager first after exposing the 
player's hand. Prior to paying a Fortune Pai Gow progressive wager, the dealer shall 
determine: 

 
(1) If the Fortune Bonus wager loses, the Dealer will place the wager in the rack 

immediately. Leaving the envy button in the circle. Proceed with the pai gow wager. If 
the pai gow hand loses. The wager will be collected and the cards will be gathered and 
placed in the discard rack. If the pai gow hand pushes, leave the wager, and the cards will 
be gathered and placed in the discard rack. If the pai gow hand wins leave the cards 
spread and leave the envy button in the circle. 

 
(2) If the Fortune Bonus wager wins, the Dealer will cut out the payout in front of the rack, 

stack up the payout, and slide the payoff to the Player. Leaving the envy button in the 
circle. Proceed to the pai gow wager. If the pai gow hand loses the wager will be 
collected and the cards will be gathered and placed in the discard rack. If the pai gow 
hand pushes leave the wager, and the cards will be gathered and placed in the discard 
rack. If the pai gow hand wins leave the cards spread and leave the envy button in the 
circle. 

 
(3) Envy bonuses will be paid as they are hit in order. If more than one player has at least 

Four-of-a kind, then all players with a "Envy'' button will win multiple payouts. 
 

(4) After all hands have been acted on the dealer will collect all envy buttons. 
 

(5) Players cannot win an envy bonus on their own hand. 
 

(6) The joker may be used to replace any card in a straight or flush or as an Ace for the 
Bonus hand. The value for the Bonus hand of the joker may be different than in the 
regular hand. 

 
(d) A gaming licensee shall pay winning Fortune Pai Gow progressive wagers at no less than the 

amounts listed in section 16(b) paytable. 
 

(e) Each betting position will also have a sensor for players to make a progressive wager. 
 

(1) Players must make wager prior to cards being delivered to the first player. 
(2) Wagers are $5.00 



(f) Prior to delivering the first hand the dealer will press the start game icon on the keypad and 
then collect any wagers that have been made. 

 
(g) All winning progressive wagers will pay at odds from the paytable below: 

 
 

 
14b. Commission Free Fortune Pai gow poker version 

 

(a) This is a variation of Fortune Pai Gow poker game that it is commission free and offers two 
optional bonus bets: Fortune Bonus and Tiger 9. Commission Free Fortune Pai Gow poker 
features head-to-head play against the dealer where the winning bets do not pay 5% 
commission. Instead, all players push when the dealer plays 9-high in his two-card hand 
(low). 

 
(b) If the player wishes to play the optional Tiger 9 bet, the Tiger 9 bet wins if the dealer plays 9- 

high in his two-card hand (low). 
 

(c) If the dealer has a Tiger 9 hand, or a hand with a 9-high two-card front hand, then all main 
wagers push, and all Tiger 9 optional side bets are paid 30 to 1. 

 
(d) If the dealer does not have a Tiger 9 hand, any optional Tiger 9 wagers are collected, and the 

player versus dealer hands are resolved following standard pai gow poker procedures. All 
winning player’s hands are paid 1 to 1 with no commission paid. 

 
(e) While reconciling the main wager and the Tiger 9 wager, the Fortune bonus wager is also 

resolved. The Fortune bonus wager is paid according to a paytable based on the highest five- 
card hand available from the player’s seven cards, regardless of how the hands are set. There 
are seven non-progressive paytables for Fortune Pai Gow, and two progressive paytables for 
Fortune Pai Gow Progressive. These are given in Table 1 through Table 3 below. All 
paytables are available at a minimum of $1 per wager, but only wagers of $5 or more are 
eligible for envy bonus pays, if applicable. 

Commented [TC3]: This section and tables have been 
moved to Sections 20 and 20a. 



 

 
 

 

 
15. Pai gow insurance wager; optional bonus wager; payment of envy bonus 



 

(a) A gaming licensee may, in its discretion, offer to each player at a pai gow poker table the 
opportunity to make a pai gow insurance wager and/or a bonus wager and receive an envy 
bonus payment in accordance with the provisions of this section. The optional bonus wager 
authorized by this section may not be offered by a gaming licensee on any pai gow poker 
table which offers the optional three-card bonus wager and the seven-card bonus wager 
authorized by Section 17. 

 
(b) Any player who has made a pai gow poker wager pursuant to Section 7 may, at the same 

time, make a pai gow insurance wager and/or a bonus wager by placing gaming chips in the 
area designated for a bonus wager at their betting position. A bonus wager shall be no less 
than $1.00. 

 
(c) Any player who makes a bonus wager of at least $5.00 shall qualify to receive an envy bonus 

payment. The dealer shall place an envy bonus marker immediately in front any bonus 
wager of $5.00 or more. 

 
(d) If a pai gow insurance wager and/or a bonus wager has been made by one or more players, 

the dealer shall observe the procedures set forth in Section 9 but with the following 
modifications. 
(1) The dealer shall, starting from the dealer’s right and moving counterclockwise around the 

table, settle the pai gow poker wager of each player and collect any vigorish that is due; 
provided, however, that: 
(i) The cards of any player who has placed a bonus wager shall remain on the layout 

regardless of the outcome of their pai gow poker wager until removed in accordance 
with the provisions of (d)(2) or (3) below; and 

(ii) If any player has placed a pai gow insurance wager or a bonus wager of at least $5.00, 
the cards of each player shall remain on the layout regardless of the outcome of their 
pai gow poker wager until removed in accordance with the provisions of (d)(2) or (3) 
below. 

(2) After settling the pai gow poker wager of a player who has placed a pai gow insurance 
wager or a bonus wager, the dealer shall rearrange the seven cards of the player to form 
the best possible hand and shall be ultimately responsible for creating such hand for 
purposes of the pai gow insurance wager and the bonus wager. Except for the pai gow 
insurance wager, a joker may be used as any card to complete any straight, flush, straight 
flush or royal flush other than a seven-card straight flush with no joker. If any player at 
the table has placed a bonus wager of at least $5.00, the dealer shall rearrange the cards 
of each player at the table regardless whether that player has placed a bonus wager. 
(i) If the player does not have a qualifying poker hand or a pai gow, the dealer shall 

collect the bonus wager and/or pai gow insurance wager, if applicable, and place the 
cards of the player in the discard rack. 

(ii) If the player has a qualifying poker hand or a pai gow, the dealer shall, if and as 
applicable, pay the winning bonus wager in accordance with Section 16(a) and/or the 
winning pai gow insurance wager in accordance with Section 16(c) and place the 
cards of the player in the discard rack. 



(iii) If the player has a premium qualifying poker hand, the dealer shall verbally 
acknowledge the premium qualifying poker hand and leave the bonus wager, if 
applicable, and the cards of the player face up on the table. 

(3) After all other bonus wagers and pai gow insurance wagers have been settled, the dealer 
shall, starting from the dealer’s right and moving counterclockwise around the table, 
settle with each player who has an envy bonus marker at their betting position or who has 
a bonus wager and a premium qualifying poker hand. 
(i) If the player has an envy bonus marker, the dealer shall pay the player the appropriate 

envy bonus payment set forth at Section 16(b) and collect the envy bonus marker. 
(ii) If the player has a bonus wager and a premium qualifying poker hand, the dealer shall 

pay the winning bonus wager in accordance with Section 16(a) and place the cards of 
the player in the discard rack. 

(iii) After all envy bonuses and premium qualifying poker hands are paid, the dealer shall 
collect the cards of any player who had a premium qualifying poker hand but did not 
place a bonus wager and place the cards of the player in the discard rack. 

 
16. Payout odds for bonus wagers; envy bonus payments; pai gow insurance wagers 

 

(a) A licensee shall pay each winning pai gow poker wager at odds of 1 to 1, except that the 
licensee shall extract a vigorish from the winning players in an amount equal to 5% of the 
amount won. When collecting the vigorish, the licensee may round off the vigorish to 25¢ or 
the next highest multiple of 25¢. A licensee shall collect the vigorish from a player at the 
time the winning payout is made. 

 
(b) The licensee shall pay out winning Fortune Bonus Wagers and Envy Bonus payouts at the 

odds and amounts in one of the following paytables selected by the licensee in its Rules 
Submission filed: 

 





 
 

(c) The licensee shall pay out winning Emperor’s Treasure Wagers and envy bonus payouts at 
the odds and amounts in one of the following paytables selected by the licensee in its Rules 
submission: 

 

Hand Paytable A Envy Bonus 

Seven card straight flush 8000 to 1 $5,000.00 

Royal flush and ace king suited 2000 to 1 $1,000.00 

Seven-card straight flush with joker 1000 to 1 $500.00 

Five aces 400 to 1 $250.00 

Royal flush 150 to 1 $50.00 

Straight flush 50 to 1 $20.00 

Four-of-a-kind 25 to 1 $5.00 

Full house 5 to 1  

Flush 4 to 1  

Three-of-a-kind 3 to 1  

Straight 2 to 1  



 

Hand Paytable B Envy Bonus 

Seven card straight flush 5000 to 1 $3,000.00 

Royal flush and ace king suited 2000 to 1 $1,000.00 

Seven-card straight flush with joker 1000 to 1 $500.00 

Five aces 400 to 1 $250.00 

Royal flush 150 to 1 $50.00 

Straight flush 50 to 1 $20.00 

Four-of-a-kind 25 to 1 $5.00 

Full house 5 to 1  

Flush 4 to 1  

Three-of-a-kind 3 to 1  

Straight 2 to 1  

 

 



 

Hand Paytable C Envy Bonus 

Seven card straight flush 5000 to 1 $1,000.00 

Royal flush and ace king suited 1000 to 1 $250.00 

Seven-card straight flush with joker 750 to 1 $100.00 

Five aces 250 to 1 $50.00 

Royal flush 100 to 1 $25.00 

Straight flush 50 to 1 $10.00 

Four-of-a-kind 20 to 1 $5.00 

Full house 5 to 1  

Flush 4 to 1  

Three-of-a-kind 3 to 1  

Straight 2 to 1  

 
 
 

Hand Paytable D Envy Bonus 

Seven card straight flush 2500 to 1 $1,000.00 

Royal flush and ace king suited 1000 to 1 $750.00 

Seven-card straight flush with joker 750 to 1 $250.00 

Five aces 250 to 1 $100.00 

Royal flush 125 to 1 $50.00 

Straight flush 50 to 1 $20.00 

Four-of-a-kind 25 to 1 $5.00 

Full house 5 to 1  

Flush 4 to 1  

Three-of-a-kind 3 to 1  

Straight 2 to 1  

 



 

 
(d) The licensee shall pay out winning pai gow insurance wagers at the odds in one of the 

following paytables selected by the licensee in its Rules submission provided that if the 
licensee is offering Emperor's Challenge Pai Gow poker, the licensee may select from 
paytables a or b or if the licensee is offering Fortune Pai Gow poker, the licensee may select 
from paytables C, D or E: 

 
Hand Paytable A Paytable B Paytable C Paytable D Paytable E 

Nine-high 100 to 1 100 to 1 100 to 1 100 to 1 100 to 1 

Ten-high 25 to 1 25 to 1 40 to 1 50 to 1 40 to 1 

Jack-high 15 to 1 15 to 1 10 to 1 10 to 1 10 to 1 

Queen-high 6 to 1 7 to 1 7 to 1 7 to 1 7 to 1 

King-high 5 to 1 5 to 1 6 to 1 5 to 1 5 to 1 

Ace-high 3 to 1 3 to 1 3 to 1 3 to 1 3 to 1 
 
 

(e) If the licensee offers the Progressive Payout Wager: 
(1) The licensee shall pay out winning Progressive Payout Wagers at the odds in the 

following paytable: 

 
 
 

(2) The initial and resent amount must be in the licensee's Rules Submission and be at least 
$2,000. 

(3) Winning Progressive Payout Wagers shall be paid the amount on the meter when it is the 
player's turn to be paid in accordance with Section 9(l)(4) irrespective of the amount that 
was on the meter when the player placed the wager or when the dealer dealt the player's 
cards. 

 
(f) The licensee shall pay out winning Queen's Dragon Wagers at odds of 50 to 1. 

 
(g) The licensee shall pay out winning Dynasty Bonus Wagers and envy bonus payouts at the 

odds and amounts in the following paytable: 



 
 

(h) The licensee shall pay out winning Protection Wagers at the odds in the following paytable: 
 

Hand Payout 

Ace/five natural straight flush 120 to 1 

Nine-high 100 to 1 

Ten-high 25 to 1 

Jack-high 15 to 1 

Queen-high 7 to 1 

King-high 5 to 1 

Ace-high 3 to 1 
 

(i) The licensee shall pay out winning Red/Black Wagers at the odds in the following paytable:



 
 

(j) Notwithstanding the payout odds in (b) - (i) above, a licensee may, in its Rules Submission, 
establish a maximum amount that is payable to a player on a single hand. The maximum 
payout amount shall be at least $50,000 or the maximum amount that one player could win 
per round when betting the minimum permissible wager, whichever is greater. Any 
maximum payout limit established by a licensee may not apply to Envy Bonus payouts. 

 
17. Dealing procedures for three-card bonus wager and seven-card bonus wager 

 

(a) A gaming licensee may, in its discretion, offer to each player at a pai gow poker table the 
opportunity to place an optional three-card bonus wager and/or a seven-card bonus wager 
and to receive payouts on such winning wagers as set forth in Section 18. The bonus wagers 
authorized by this section may not be offered by a gaming licensee on any pai gow poker 
table which offers the optional bonus wager authorized by Section 15. The three-card bonus 
wager and the seven-card bonus wager shall have no bearing on any other wager made by a 
player at the game of pai gow poker. 

 
(b) Notwithstanding any other provision of 205 CMR 146 or this section, the dealing procedures 

set forth in this section shall apply to any pai gow poker game that offers the optional bonus 
wagers authorized by this section. The first three cards dealt to each player shall be dealt 
from an automated dealing shoe which dispenses cards in stacks of three cards, provided that 
the shoe, its location and the procedures for its use are approved by the Commission. 

 
(c) Once the procedures required by Sections 5 and 6 have been completed, the cards shall be 

placed in the automated dealing shoe. The dealer shall then announce “No more bets.” 
 

(d) The dealer shall deliver the first stack of three cards dispensed by the automated dealing shoe 
face down to the player at the starting position. The starting position shall be the player 
position farthest to the left of the dealer at which a pai gow poker wager has been placed in 
accordance with Section 7 

 
(e) As the remaining stacks of three cards are dispensed to the dealer by the automated dealing 

shoe, the dealer shall, moving clockwise around the table, deliver a stack face down to each 
of the other players who has placed a pai gow poker wager. The dealer shall then deliver a 
stack of three cards face down to the area designated for the dealer’s hand. 

 
(f) Each player who has placed a three-card bonus wager shall, after examining their cards, 



determine whether the three-card hand qualifies for a three-card bonus wager payout as 
defined in Section 18 and as displayed on the sign required by 205 CMR 146.21. Each 
player who has placed a three-card bonus wager and who has a winning hand shall place their 
cards face up on the layout. The dealer shall collect all three-card bonus wagers from players 
with losing three-card hands and then pay all winning three-card bonus wagers in accordance 
with the payouts set forth at Section 18. 

 
(g) After each stack of three cards has been dispensed and delivered and each three-card bonus 

wager has been resolved in accordance with this section, the dealer shall complete the 
dealing of the cards by observing one of the following procedure. 
(1) The dealer shall deliver the first stack of four additional cards dispensed by the automated 

dealing shoe face down to the player farthest to their left who has placed a pai gow poker 
wager in accordance with Section 7. As the remaining stacks are dispensed to the dealer 
by the automated dealing shoe/machine, the dealer shall, moving clockwise around the 
table, deliver a stack of four cards face down to each player who has placed a pai gow 
poker wager. The dealer shall then deliver a stack of four additional cards face down to 
the area designated for the dealer’s hand. The round of play shall then proceed in 
accordance with the procedures set forth in Sections 9 and 18. 

 
(h) The dealer shall be required to count the stub at least once every five rounds of play in order 

to determine whether the correct number of cards are still in the deck. The dealer shall 
determine the number of cards in the stub by counting the cards face down on the layout. 
(1) If the count of the stub indicates that 53 cards are in the deck, the dealer shall place the 

stub in the discard rack without exposing the cards. 
(2) If the count of the stub indicates that the number of the cards in the deck is incorrect, the 

dealer shall determine if the cards were misdealt. If the cards have been misdealt (a 
player or the dealer has more or less than seven cards) but 53 cards remain in the deck, all 
hands shall be void pursuant to Section 11(h). If the cards have not been misdealt, all 
hands shall be considered void and the entire deck of cards shall be removed from the 
table pursuant to 205 CMR 146.49. 

 
(i) Notwithstanding the provisions of (h) above, the counting of the stub shall not be required if 

an automated card shuffling device is used that counts the number of cards in the deck after 
the completion of each shuffle and indicates whether 52 cards, plus the joker, are still 
present. If the automated card shuffling device reveals that an incorrect number of cards are 
present, the deck shall be removed from the table in accordance with the provisions of 205 
CMR 146.49. 

 
18. Payout odds for optional three-card bonus wager and seven-card bonus wager 

 

(a) The payout odds for winning the optional bonus wagers authorized by Section 17 when 
printed on any sign or in any brochure or other publication distributed by a gaming licensee 
shall be stated through the use of the word “to” or “win,” and no odds shall be stated through 
the use of the word “for.” 

 
(b) A gaming licensee shall pay off winning three-card bonus wagers at no less than the 



following odds: 
 

Hand Type Payout Odds 
Three-card straight flush, 40 to 1 
with no joker  
Three-of-a-kind 25 to 1 
Three–card straight flush 5 to 1 
Three-card straight 4 to 1 
Three-card flush 3 to 1 
One pair 1 to 1 

 
(c) A gaming licensee shall pay winning seven-card bonus wagers at no less than the odds in 

accordance with one of the following payout tables: 
 

Hand Type Table A 
Five aces 500 to 1 
Royal flush 250 to 1 
Straight flush 50 to 1 
Four-of-a-kind 25 to 1 
Full house 5 to 1 
Flush 4 to 1 
Three-of-a-kind 3 to 1 
Straight 2 to 1 
Hand Type Table B 
Five aces 500 to 1 
Royal flush 200 to 1 
Straight flush without joker 50 to 1 
Straight flush with joker 30 to 1 
Four-of-a-kind 25 to 1 
Full house 5 to 1 
Flush 4 to 1 
Three-of-a-kind 3 to 1 
Straight 2 to 1 

 
(d) Notwithstanding the minimum payout odds required in (c) above, a gaming licensee may 

establish a maximum payout amount as approved by the Commission that is payable to a 
player for one round of play, which amount shall be at least $50,000 or the maximum amount 
that one player could win per round when betting the minimum permissible wager, 
whichever is greater. If the established payout limit is not included on the layout, each 
gaming licensee shall provide notice of any decrease in the payout limit in accordance with 
205 CMR 147.03. Any maximum payout limit established by a gaming licensee shall apply 
only to payouts of the seven-card bonus wager placed pursuant to Section 17. 



19. Face up Fortune Pai Gow Poker Variation; Progressive 
 

(a) Game play begins with players placing the Main Hand wager, as well as the Ace-High wager 
which may be optional or mandatory at the sole discretion of the operator. Any other optional 
wagers are also placed at this time. After all wagers have been placed, each player and the dealer 
receive seven cards. After all cards are dealt, the dealer will turn over their cards and set their 
hand according to a predefined house-way. Players then set two hands – a two-card low/front 
hand and a five-card high/back hand. The only restriction on the player hand setting is that the 
five-card back hand must be of a higher Poker ranking than the two-card front hand. 

 
(b) If the dealer has an ace high pai gow hand (a 7-card hand with ace high, no pairs, straights, or 
flushes), then all main wagers push. 

 
(c) If the dealer does not have an ace high pai gow hand, the players versus dealer hands are 
resolved following standard Pai gow poker procedures. All winning players’ hands are paid 1 to 
1 with no commission paid. 

 
(d) If the dealer has an ace high pai gow hand (a 7-card hand with ace high, no pairs, straights, or 
flushes), all side wagers are paid according to one of the paytables below in Table 1. 

 

 
(e) The licensee may offer the optional Fortune Bonus as well as the Ace-High Bonus wager. 

Table 2 has the optional paytables for this wager. 
 

Table 2 Fortune Bonus Paytables 
 



 
 

 

(f) If the dealer does not have an ace high pai gow hand, any optional Ace-High wagers are 
collected. 

 
(g) Each player that placed a progressive wager is paid according to a paytable based on the best 
hand possible among all the player’s cards. The joker is considered semi wild. If a joker is 
present in the player’s hand, it can only be used as an ace or to complete a straight, flush or 
straight flush. 

 
(h) The available paytables for Face Up Pai gow poker Progressive are in Table 1 below. A 
wager size of $1 is used for the seed amount for Paytable 1 and $5 for Paytable 3. 



Table 1. Face Up Pai Gow Poker Progressive Paytables 
 
 

Hand Paytable 1 Paytable 3 
7 Card Straight Flush 100% of Progressive 100% of Progressive 

5 Aces 10% of Progressive 10% of Progressive 
Royal Flush 500 for 1 500for 1 

Straight Flush 100 for 1 100 for 1 
Four of a Kind 75 for 1 75 for 1 

Full House 4 for 1 4 for 1 
Contribution Percent 28% 29% 

Seed Amount $10,000 $10,000 
 
 

20. Fortune Pai Gow Poker Bonus Wager 
 

(a) A gaming licensee may, in its discretion, allow for the Fortune Pai Gow Poker Bonus wager 
(also referred to herein as Fortune Bonus wager) on their Pai Gow poker tables.  
(1) A Fortune Pai Gow Poker Bonus wager may be an amount no less than $5.00 and no 

more than $200.00. The Player determines the amount they wish to wager. 
(2) A Fortune Pai Gow Poker Bonus wager of $5.00 automatically qualifies as an Envy 

Bonus wager. When a Player qualifies for the Envy Bonus, they will be entitled to 
receive an additional bonus on any Player's hand of four-of-a kind or higher. 

(3) The Banker’s hand never qualifies for an Envy bonus payout. 
(4) A Fortune Pai Gow Poker Bonus wager must be placed prior to commencement of that 

round of play. The Player will place their Bonus wager in the designed area of the layout 
for the Fortune Bonus wager. 

(5) The dealer will place a specially designed Envy button on top of any bonus wager        of 
$5.00 or more. 

(6) All seven cards in the hand qualify for all bonuses. 
(7) Due to the Envy Bonus feature of this game, all hands must be exposed. 

 

Commented [TC4]: This section was relocated from 
Section 3 



 
 

20a. Fortune Pai Gow Poker Progressive Wager 
 

(a) A gaming licensee may, in its discretion, offer to every player at a pai gow poker table who 
has placed a pai gow poker wager the option to make a Fortune Pai Gow progressive wager 
on whether the player will be dealt a hand type as set forth in (g) below. The progressive 
payout wager shall, in the discretion of the gaming licensee, be either a $1.00 or $5.00 wager. 

(b) Prior to the first card or stack of cards of a round being dealt and once all wagers including 
the Fortune Pai Gow progressive wagers have been placed, the dealer shall announce “No 
more bets” and press the lock-out button on the table controller panel.  

 
(c) A winning progressive payout wager shall be paid in accordance with the payout table listed 

in (g) below and the provisions of Section 9. A winning Fortune Pai Gow progressive wager 
shall be paid irrespective of the outcome of the player’s pai gow poker wager. If a Fortune 
Bonus wager has been placed, the Dealer will act on the bonus wager first after exposing the 
player's hand. Prior to paying a Fortune Pai Gow progressive wager, the dealer shall 
determine: 

 
a. If the Fortune Bonus wager loses, the Dealer shall place the wager in the rack 

Commented [TC5]: This section was relocated from 
Section 14a 



immediately, leaving the envy button in the circle, and proceed with the pai gow 
wager. If the pai gow hand loses, the Dealer shall collect the wager, gather the cards, 
and place the gathered cards in the discard rack. If the pai gow hand pushes, the 
Dealer shall leave the wager, gather the cards, and place the gathered cards in the 
discard rack. If the pai gow hand wins, the Dealer shall leave the cards spread and 
leave the envy button in the circle. 

 
b. If the Fortune Bonus wager wins, the Dealer shall cut out the payout in front of the 

rack, stack up the payout, and slide the payout to the Player. The Dealer shall leave 
the envy button in the circle and proceed to the pai gow wager. If the pai gow hand 
loses, the Dealer shall collect the wager, gather the cards, and place the gathered 
cards in the discard rack. If the pai gow hand pushes, the Dealer shall leave the 
wager, gather the cards, and place the gathered cards in the discard rack. If the pai 
gow hand wins, the Dealer shall leave the cards spread and leave the envy button in 
the circle. 

 
c. Envy bonuses will be paid as they are hit in order. If more than one player has at 

least  Four-of-a kind, then all players with an "Envy'' button will win multiple 
payouts. 

 
d. After all hands have been acted on, the Dealer shall collect all envy buttons. 

 
e. Players cannot win an envy bonus on their own hand. 

 
f. The joker may be used to replace any card in a straight or flush or as an Ace for 

the bonus hand. The value for the bonus hand of the joker may be different than 
in the  regular hand. 

 
(d) A gaming licensee shall pay winning Fortune Pai Gow progressive wagers at no less than the 

amounts listed in (g) below. 
 

(e) Each betting position will also have a sensor for players to make a progressive wager. 
 

a. Players must make wager prior to cards being delivered to the first player. 
b. Wagers are either $1.00 or $5.00 

 
(f) Prior to delivering the first hand, the Dealer shall press the start game icon on the keypad 

and  then collect any wagers that have been made. 
 

(g) All winning progressive wagers will pay at odds from either one of the paytables below: 
Paytable 1 



 
Paytable 2 

 
 * If a licensee uses Paytable 2, the seed amount for the Royal Flush must be greater than or equal to 
$500 for a $1 progressive, or $2,500 for a $5 progressive wager. 
 

20b. Commission Free Fortune Pai gow poker version  
 

(f) Commission Free Fortune Pai Gow poker is a variation of Fortune Pai Gow poker that it is 
commission free and offers two  optional bonus bets: Fortune Bonus and Tiger 9. 
Commission Free Fortune Pai Gow poker features head-to-head play against the dealer 
where the winning bets do not pay 5% commission. Instead, all players push when the 
dealer plays 9-high in his two-card hand (low). 

 
(g) If the player wishes to play the optional Tiger 9 bet, the Tiger 9 bet wins if the dealer plays 9- 

high in his two-card hand (low). 
 

(h) If the dealer has a Tiger 9 hand, or a hand with a 9-high two-card front hand, then all main 
wagers push, and all Tiger 9 optional side bets are paid 30 to 1. 

 
(i) If the dealer does not have a Tiger 9 hand, any optional Tiger 9 wagers are collected, and the 

player versus dealer hands are resolved following standard pai gow poker procedures. All 
winning player’s hands are paid 1 to 1 with no commission paid. 

 
(j) While reconciling the main wager and the Tiger 9 wager, the Fortune Bonus wager is also 

resolved. The Fortune Bonus wager is paid according to a paytable based on the highest 
five- card hand available from the player’s seven cards, regardless of how the hands are set.  
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Commented [TC6]: This section was relocated from 
Section 14b 


	3 Encore Development Binder
	Encore Revision to Gaming Establishment 2019
	Exhibit B - Revised Gaming Establishment.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	L-GL-1.02A


	Exhibit C - MGM Springfield Gaming Establishment Boundary.pdf
	4b) MGM Springfield 2018 Gaming Establishment 2


	Wynn 5-18-01 ILEV Agreement MPAC
	NPC Wynn Boston Harbor Decision
	Second-Amended-Section-61-Findings

	4 localaid_q4_ cy_ 2021
	6 1.06.03 Hiring authority policy
	8 DRAFT Pai Gow Poker v. 4
	1. Definitions
	2. Cards; number of decks
	3. Pai gow poker rankings; cards; poker hands
	4. Pai gow poker shaker and dice; computerized random number generator; button
	5. Opening of the table for gaming
	6. Shuffle and cut of the cards
	7. Wagers
	8. Procedures for dealing the cards from a manual dealing shoe
	8a. Procedures for dealing the cards from an automated dealing shoe
	8b. Procedure for determining the starting position for dealing cards or delivering stacks of cards
	9. Procedures for completion of each round of play; setting of hands; payment and collection of wagers; payout odds; vigorish
	10. Player bank; co-banking; selection of bank; procedures for dealing
	11. Irregularities; invalid roll of dice
	12. A player wagering on more than one betting area
	13. Permissible additional wager
	14. Progressive payout wager
	14.a Fortune Pai Gow Poker Progressive wager
	14b. Commission Free Fortune Pai gow poker version
	15. Pai gow insurance wager; optional bonus wager; payment of envy bonus
	16. Payout odds for bonus wagers; envy bonus payments; pai gow insurance wagers
	17. Dealing procedures for three-card bonus wager and seven-card bonus wager
	18. Payout odds for optional three-card bonus wager and seven-card bonus wager
	19. Face up Fortune Pai Gow Poker Variation; Progressive
	20b. Commission Free Fortune Pai gow poker version




